CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE, INSTITUTE OF TROPICS AND SUBTROPICS



SUBSTITUTION OF ANTIBIOTIC GROWTH PROMOTERS IN ANIMAL NUTRITION BY BIOACTIVE PLANT-DERIVED PRODUCTS

A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Amálie Balaštíková Thesis supervisor: doc. Ing. Ladislav Kokoška, Ph.D.

2012

Abstract

Based on the analysis of scientific literature, four plant species with the most intensive biological effects beneficial for growth promotion (namely antimicrobial, antioxidative, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory effects) were identified as a result of this thesis. From the total number of 16 plants, *Melissa officinalis, Ocimum sanctum, Thymbra capitata*, and *Zingiber officinale* were found to be the most prospective species. Their antimicrobial effect was proved *in vitro* by low values of MIC ranging from 167 to 300 µg/ml for *M. officinalis, O. sanctum* and *Z. officinalis*; for *T. capitata* MIC was 0.05 µl/ml. The antioxidative effect was evaluated *in vitro* by DPPH assay, when the IC₅₀ ranged from 8 to 88 µg/ml. The immunomodulatory effect was observed *in vivo* to be significant for *O. sanctum* and *Z. officinale* at the doses of 0.2 mg/kg and approximately 20 mg/kg respectively. Anti-inflammatory effect was proved for *T. capitata* by *in vitro* 5lypoxygenase assay, when IC₅₀ was 93 µg/ml. *M. officinalis, O. sanctum* and *Z. officinale* were tested *in vitro* showing significant effects at doses ranging from 50 mg/kg to 400 mg/kg.

The immunomodulatory activity still has to be tested in *M. officinalis* and *T. capitata* prior to their further investigation on the growth promoting effect. As a result of this thesis, *M. officinalis, O. sanctum, T. capitata*, and *Z. officinale* are suggested for further research focused on the development of possible alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in livestock animals.

Key words: antibiotic, growth promoter, plant, extract, antimicrobial, antioxidative, antiinflammatory, immunomodulatory.

Abstrakt

Na základě analýzy odborné literatury byly jako výsledek této práce identifikovány čtyři rostlinné druhy vykazující nejintenzivnější biologické účinky (konkrétně antimikrobiální, antioxidační, imunostimulační a protizánětlivé účinky) příznivé pro podporu růstu hospodářských zvířat. Z celkového počtu šestnácti rostlin byly nejperspektivnějšími druhy shledány Melissa officinalis, Ocimum sanctum, Thymbra capitata a Zingiber officinale. U M. officinalis, O sanctum a Z. officinalis byl antimikrobiální účinek prokázán nízkými hodnotami minimálních inhibičních koncentrací v rozmezí od 167 do 300 µg/ml. U T. capitata byla minimální inhibiční koncentrace 0,05 µl/ml. Antioxidační účinky byly hodnoceny v in vitro DPPH testech s hodnotami IC₅₀ v rozmezí od 8 do 88 µg/ml. Imunomodulační aktivita byla výrazná u O. sanctum a Z. officinale v in vivo testech při dávkách 0,2 mg/kg a přibližně 20 mg/kg. Protizánětlivý účinek byl prokázán u T. capitata in vitro, kdy byla inhibována 5-lypoxygenáza při IC₅₀ 93 µg/ml. Protizánětlivá aktivita *M. officinalis*, *O.* sanctum a Z. officinale byla testována in vivo a výrazný efekt byl zjištěn při dávkách od 50 mg/kg do 400 mg/kg. Jako výsledek této práce jsou rostliny M. officinalis, O. sanctum, T. capitata a Z. officinale doporučeny k dalšímu výzkumu zaměřenému na vývoj možných alternativ antibiotických promotorů růstu ve výživě hospodářských zvířat. Nicméně u M. officinalis a T. capitata je nutné nejdříve doložit jejich imunomodulační aktivitu.

Klíčová slova: antibiotikum, promotor růstu, rostlina, extrakt, antimikrobiální, antioxidativní, protizánětlivý, imunomodulační.

Certification

I declare that I have worked on this thesis independently, using only the sources listed in the bibliography.

10. 5. 2012 Amálie Balaštíková

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor doc. Ing. Ladislav Kokoška, Ph.D. for his help, support and kind advice and my family and friends for their support and patience.

Table of contents

Abstract	ii
Abstrakti	ii
Certificationi	v
Acknowledgement	v
Forewordv	ii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Antibiotics in animal production	1
1.1.1. Veterinary use of antibiotics	3
1.1.2. Antibiotics in growth promotion	5
1.2. Problems in the use of antibiotics in animal production 1	1
1.2.1. Antibiotic resistance 1	1
1.2.2. Antibiotic residues 1	2
1.3. Alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters 1	5
1.3.1. Non-antibiotic growth promoters 1	5
1.3.2. Biologically active constituents of plants 1	8
2. Objectives	:4
3. Materials and methods 2	25
4. Results and discussion	6
5. Conclusion	7
6. References	8
7. Abbreviations	4

Foreword

The discovery of antibiotics caused a revolution in the treatment of both humans and animals. In livestock, however, the use of antibiotics has not been limited solely to medical treatment and they soon started to be used also as growth promoters. Along with the intensification of animal production and the health problems of animals, which this trend brings, the use of antibiotics as growth promoters rose steadily in the world. Unfortunately, inappropriate use of antibiotic growth promoters and the excessive use of antibiotics in human and veterinary medicine caused the development of resistance among bacteria. Therefore, because of problems connected to the use of antibiotics as growth promoters and their banned use in the European Union, it is necessary to find for them efficient substitutes.

Several alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters are already in use in animal production. Their effect may not be so pronounced but they do not bring such risks as antibiotic growth promoters do. One option of substituting antibiotic growth promoters are plant species and their biologically active constituents, since they exhibit several biological activities beneficial for animal nutrition and growth promotion. Nowadays, essential oils are popular and commercially available. The future use of plants and their products in animal production will depend on further research, on the development of animal production and on the demands of the market.

I have chosen this topic for several reasons. I consider the excessive use of antibiotics to be a great problem and I am also not satisfied with the situation in current conventional animal production. I believe a more nature-oriented approach should be applied both in animal nutrition and in the whole system of conventional animal husbandry. While working on this thesis and getting to know the problems of animal production in more detail, I started to ask myself questions about to what extent should we, humans, use animals for our needs and if we have the right to do so. Although these questions exceed the scope of this thesis, I consider it important to mention them.

1. Introduction

1.1. Antibiotics in animal production

Ever since the accidental discovery of penicillin by Sir Alexander Fleming in 1928, huge amounts of antibiotics have appeared on the market and are now available not only to cure diseases in humans and animals but also serve as growth promoters in livestock husbandry in some countries (Sarmah et al., 2006). The first use of antibiotics in animal production was therapeutic, namely, to treat infectious (streptococcal) mastitis in dairy cattle (Woolcock, 1991). The growth promoting effect of antibiotics was discovered in the 1940s (Castanon, 2007), when Stoksad et al. (1949) fed chickens residues from fermentative production of chlortetracycline produced by *Streptomyces aureofaciens* in order to provide them with a cheap source of vitamin B_{12} . This growth-promoting effect was quickly confirmed in chickens and pigs and was also produced by the addition of other antibiotics to the feed of young animals. Antibiotics were increasingly used as feed additive not only due to their growth-promoting effect but also for their profitability, since only very small amounts are required (Woolcock, 1991).

In 1951 the United States Food and Drug Administration approved the use of antibiotics as animal feed additives without veterinary prescription (Jones and Ricke, 2003). Thus, the amount of antibiotics produced in the United States grew rapidly. In 1957 these antibiotics constituted 450 tons of all antibiotics produced there (Hejzlar et al., 1980). In 2004 antibiotic production was 9,900 tons, of which 60–80% was used for non-therapeutic purposes (Arikan et al., 2008). Nowadays, the use of antibiotics as growth promoters is under scrutiny in the United States (Dibner and Richards, 2005). Recent data from 2005 reveal that arsenicals, bacitracin, carbadox, chlortetracycline, monensin, penicillin, tylosin and virginiamycin are used as approved antibiotic growth promoters (Giguere et al. 2006). However, consumers are pressuring companies to remove antibiotic growth promoters from animal feed altogether. For example, both the McDonald's Corporation and the KFC claim that they do not accept chicken meat grown using antibiotic growth promoters (Dibner and Richards, 2005).

In the 1950s and 1960s, each European country approved its own national regulations concerning the use of antibiotics in animal feed (Castanon, 2007). Following the ban of all growth-promoting antibiotics in Sweden in 1986, and the ban on avoparcin and virginiamycin in Denmark in 1995 and 1998, the European Union banned the use of

1

avoparcin in 1997 and bacitracin, spiramycin, tylosin and virginiamycin in 1999 (Casewell et al., 2003). According to Opletal and Skřivanová (2010), non-antibiotic growth promoters carbadox and olachindox were also banned in the same year and since 1. January 2006 a ban applies to all antibiotics used as growth promoters, although antibiotics still can be used for therapeutic purposes. Producers that seek to export to markets within the European Union are thus forced to stop using antibiotic growth promoters altogether (Dibner and Richards, 2005). In Denmark, Norway and Sweden a study focused on the amount of therapeutic antibiotics used after the ban on antibiotic growth promoters was carried out. It revealed that in Sweden the use of therapeutic antimicrobials increased only temporarily. In Norway the use of therapeutic antimicrobials in animals declined markedly after the withdrawal of antibiotic growth promoters mainly because of a campaign supporting the avoidance of the use of antibiotics. The exception were weaning pigs in Denmark, where therapeutic use of antibiotics did not decline to previous levels after the increase in relation with the ban on antibiotic growth promoters (Grave et al., 2006). As could have been expected, performance did decrease, as observed in weaning pigs (Millet and Maertens, 2011). As far as economic impact is concerned, by withdrawing antibiotic growth promoters in Denmark, the cost per pig produced increased by 1.03 Euro (Barug et al., 2006). The ban also led to lower resistance of the enterococci to various antibiotics, including tylosin and virginiamycin (Aarestrup et al., 2001; Boerlin et al., 2001).

As far as Australia is concerned, before the year 2000 a number of antimicrobials, including arsenicals, avoparcin (a glycopeptide antibiotic), ionophores, macrolides, polypeptides, quinoxalines, virginiamycin (a streptogramin antibiotic) and others were registered as growth promoters. In June 2000 avoparcin was withdrawn. Because of its carcinogenicity carbadox was also prohibited. However, there are no available data on the quantities of various growth promoters used. Considering other countries of the eastern hemisphere, the use of antibiotics as growth promoters in food-producing animals is prohibited in Japan, however, antibiotics are permitted as a component of feed additives following Ministerial approval. In China regulation of the use of antibiotics are permitted as feed additives (Sarmah et al., 2006). Also, raw mycelia can be used as animal growth promoters. Unlike in Japan and China, in Southeast Asia the use of antibiotics in shrimp farming is unregulated (Witte, 1998).

Witte's data from 1998 reveal that in the countries of the developing world, which are responsible for about 25% of world meat production, policies regulating veterinary use of antibiotics are poorly developed or absent. The study of Sarmah et al. (2006) reveals that in many developing countries, such as India, Thailand and Indonesia there is a lack of control concerning antibiotic use in animals. Therefore, there is no data available on the types of veterinary antibiotics and amounts used. Considering Africa, the data on the consumption of antibiotics by food-producing animals is lacking. However, in a study of Mitema et al. (2001) focused on antibiotics in food producing animals in Kenya, it was confirmed that hardly any antibiotics were used as growth promoters. It is still possible, however, that some soluble tetracyclines and sulfonamides in the form of soluble powders or solutions were used. According to the data of Mitema's study, between the years 1995-1999, almost 15 tons of active antimicrobials were used in animal food production. Of these, tetracyclines and sulfonamides and trimethoprim combination account for nearly 78% (56% and 22% respectively). In other African countries, such as the United Republic of Tanzania and Uganda, veterinary antimicrobials are easily accessible and under low control by the government (Sarmah et al., 2006).

1.1.1. Veterinary use of antibiotics

Modern agriculture is characterized by mechanization and intensification. When livestock is concentrated on too small a space and when poor husbandry is applied, the probability of disease increases (Parker, 1980). Another sign of modern agriculture practices is the increasing immaturity of livestock animals. By improving performance and due to breeding, animals are reaching market weight much earlier than before. Thus, there are more young animals in the livestock units with still undeveloped immune systems which are, therefore, much more prone to disease infection. The most widespread infections are respiratory diseases, which are caused by a large number of different pathogens and may not respond to available medicines. Another group of important infections are enteric infections, which are also caused by different groups of pathogens and are, therefore, difficult to cure. This group of infections is becoming more widespread not only for the reasons mentioned above but also because of the modern trend of eliminating the bedding of animals. When bedding is lacking, it is more difficult to separate animals from their excrements. Other infections increasing in modern livestock husbandry are caused by bacteria, such as *Escherichia coli*, *Clostridia* spp., *Pasteurella* spp. and *Salmonella* spp. Many of these pathogens are common inhabitants of the animal intestine but with poor livestock husbandry a disease can break out (Sainsbury, 1986).

Many infections can be treated with antibiotics. Unlike in human medicine, however, in animals the antimicrobial drugs are used not only for therapeutic purposes but also for metaphylaxis, prophylaxis and growth promotion. The therapeutic use is similar to the use in human medicine, when animals are examined and treated individually. This approach is applied mainly in dairy cows and calves and antibiotics are applied by injection or orally. Metaphylaxis means that a whole group of animals, such as poultry or pigs, is medicated when a single animal starts to express signs of illness. This treatment is commonly administered with feed or water. On the other hand, prophylactic use is a more preventive approach when treatment can be applied both to groups and individual animals. It is usually used after a surgical operation or in cows at the end of lactation to prevent mastitis (intramammary administered therapeutic levels). Prophylaxis can also be applied at key times, such as weaning, or when mixing animals from different herds together, since in such cases it is highly probable that some disease will occur. Both prophylactic use and the use of antimicrobials for growth promotion (which will be discussed in further chapters) are criticized for building resistance among bacteria (Schwarz, 2001).

In contrast with conventional animal husbandry is organic animal husbandry, which takes a different approach to animals and the use of medicaments. In organic farming, preventive use of any chemical or synthetic remedy or antibiotic is prohibited, as is the use of antibiotics, coccidiostatics and other synthetic substances to promote growth. The treatment of an illness or injury must be as natural as possible and the main principle of fighting a disease is prevention. Animals must have an access to fresh air, to pastures and free paddocks, all of which strengthen their immune systems. The number of animals in the herd is also limited. Furthermore, straw or other natural materials are usually used for bedding and it is optimal to keep traditional animal breeds, since they are well adapted to local conditions. It is possible to use phytotherapeutics and homeopathics for treating a disease but the use of antibiotics is prohibited. They can be used only in cases when other permitted remedies are ineffective and the treatment of the animal is urgent (Moudrý et al., 2007).

1.1.2 Antibiotics in growth promotion

In this chapter I would first like to focus on the mode of action of antibiotic growth promoters and then describe selected antibiotic growth promoters in more detail. Orally administered antibiotics promote growth and feed efficiency in livestock and poultry (Dibner and Richards, 2005), while injected antibiotics have no or little growth promoting effect. Furthermore, the stimulation of growth is greater in broad-spectrum antibiotics, in cases with poor animal zoohygiene on farms, and it is more evident in young animals than in older ones (Opletal and Skřivanová, 2010). When explaining the mode of action of antibiotics, we can consider autochthonous microorganisms in the animal gut, which protect the gut from colonization by pathogenic and non-autochthonous microbes. They produce some nutrients beneficial for the animal, such as vitamin B and K. But there are also some drawbacks to these actions. The bacteria compete with the host for nutrients and amino acids. Bacteria fermenting these amino acids can produce toxins, such as amines, ammonia, indoles and phenols, decreasing animal growth. Some bacteria also decrease the digestibility of fat by degrading bile acids and their salts resulting in toxic products (Dibner and Richards, 2005). Antibiotics reduce the number of microorganisms, and thus protect the nutrients from competing microorganisms in the digestive system. Furthermore, antibiotics inhibit bacteria producing toxins (Feighner and Dashkevicz, 1987; Opletal and Skřivanová, 2010).

Many bacteria also digest the protective mucus layer of the intestine, resulting in increased secretion of the mucus, costing the host energy (Dibner and Richards, 2005). In a study of Costa et al. (2011) with chlortetracycline and mice infected with *Citrobacter rodentium*, it was concluded that the growth promoting effect of antibiotics is more due to their ability of modulating intestinal immune response than due to antibiotic action. While chlortetracycline had no effect on the density of *C. rodentium* in feces and did not impact colonic microbial flora, it did lessen pathologic changes in the distal colon and regulated transcription levels of inflammatory cytokines Th1 and Th17 temporarily. Similar conclusion was made years before in a study of Roura et al. (1992) in an experiment with chickens, where results indicated that feeding them antibiotics may promote growth by preventing immunologic stress. On the contrary, in the study of Collier et al. (2003) concerning pigs fed tylosin or administered an antibiotic rotation sequence, it was observed that the total amount of bacteria was significantly decreased. This theory is supported by

the observation in an experiment of Coates et al. (1963) in chickens, which shows that antibiotics do not promote the growth of germ-free animals. When administered doses of 45.5 mg/kg of penicillin, the weight gain was improved only in conventional chickens but not in germ-free ones, since their intestinal epithelium is thinner and, therefore, nutrients are more easily absorbed (Feighner and Dashkevicz, 1987; Opletal and Skřivanová, 2010). The germ-free chickens gained more weight than control groups receiving or not receiving penicillin (Coates et al., 1963). In spite of these experiments and theories, the scientific world is still not sure about the exact mechanisms by which antibiotics promote growth (Dibner and Richards, 2005).

Chlortetracycline

Chlortetracycline belongs to tetracyclines, which are broad-spectrum bacteriostatic antibiotics with a hydronaphthacene nucleus containing four fused rings (Murray et al., 1999). This antibiotic is produced by Streptomyces aureofaciens (Hejzlar et al., 1980) and it was first recognized as a growth promoter in the feed of chickens around 1950 (Jukes and Williams, 1953). All tetracyclines have similar antimicrobial activity spectra ranging from Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, mycoplasmas, chlamydiae, rickettsiae to some types of protozoa (Murray et al., 1999). Hejzlar (1980) states that chlortetracycline is administered to treat particularly Gram-negative and mixed bacterial infections and that it is often prescribed as a basic antibiotic for treating infections where therapy should be initiated before the result of microbiological investigation is obtained. According to Murray et al. (1999), tetracyclines are the drug of choice for treating acute and uncomplicated urinary infections caused by Escherichia coli. Many pathogenic spirochetes including Treponema pallidum and Borrelia burgdorferi or protozoans such as Plasmodium falciparum are also inhibited by chlortetracycline. It is also used in cases of resistance or hypersensitivity to penicillin and where the clinical picture is not sufficiently clear. The most common complications accompanying the use of chlortetracycline are the irritating effect on mucous membranes of the digestive tract (Hejzlar et al., 1980) and prolonged use can thus result in diarrhea and pseudomembranous colitis (Murray et al., 1999). Also, bacterial and candidal superinfections and metabolic disorders caused by deficiency of vitamins B and K due to suppression of useful intestinal microflora can be observed. This can be avoided by simultaneous supply of some Lactobacillus species (L. acidophilus and L. bulgaricus) and higher doses of vitamins B and K (Hejzlar et al., 1980).

According to Mackie et al. (2006) tetracyclines are commonly used as antibiotic growth promoters in pig and poultry industry in the United States. Mackie mentions that in the 1990s chlortetracycline along with oxytetracycline made 48% of all antibiotics fed to pigs. In 2004 the amount of chlortetracycline in animal feed for non-therapeutic purposes used in the United States was 1,800-2,400 tons (Arikan et al., 2008). The effective doses for starter pigs improving the average daily gain and the feed/gain ratio were observed by Zimmerman (1986) to be 11, 22 and 110 mg/kg. Considering chickens, Proudfoot et al. (1988) found out in their experiment with male broiler chickens that low levels of chlortetracycline (5.5 mg/kg), which were permitted at that time in Canada, had no significant effect on mortality and neither weight gain nor feed conversion ratios were affected. The results of this experiment were in sharp contrast with some previous works, where both weight gain and feed efficiency were significantly improved. But in those studies higher amounts of chlortetracycline were used (10-25 mg/kg and 25-55 mg/kg respectively). Chlortetracycline works well in the rearing of calves where the antibiotics are used more for their prophylactic or therapeutic effect on disease rather than for their specific effect on growth promotion. Chlortetracycline also prevents methemoglobinemia in cattle when 0.5-10 ‰ is added to the feed. Considering lambs, chlortetracycline gave higher growth rates than in control groups at 12 to 17 mg/kg. As a growth promoter chlortetracycline is particularly suitable in cases where housing conditions are not appropriate and lead to chronic diseases (Hejzlar et al., 1980; Woolcock, 1991).

Bacitracin

Bacitracin is a cyclic peptide antibiotic made of ten amino acids joined in a ring (Finch et al., 2012). It is produced by *Bacillus subtilis* (now recognized as *B. licheniformis*) and it was first isolated in 1943 from an infected wound of a girl called Tracy (which then became the basis for its name) (Block, 2001; Phillips, 1999). The main component is bacitracin A which, in its pure form, is also the most active (Hejzlar et al., 1980). Bacitracin disrupts bacterial cytoplasmic membrane and inhibits dephosphorylation of bacterial cell wall synthesis. Antimicrobial spectrum of bacitracin covers mainly Grampositive bacteria, particularly the streptococci. *Neisseria* spp. are also susceptible (Murray et al., 1999) but there is little activity against Gram-negative bacteria (Block, 2001),

however, bacitracin shows an effect on some strains of *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Haemophilus ducreyi* (Hejzlar et al., 1980). Bacitracin is often combined with neomycin, polymyxin B, or both, since alone it has a narrow antimicrobial spectrum (Murray et al., 1999). Its antimicrobial activity is also increased by cadmium, manganese and zinc (Hejzlar et al., 1980). Initially, bacitracin was introduced to treat severe staphylococcal infections, yet its use in treatment is now mainly topical because of its systemic toxicity. Still, administered orally it is effective in treating antibiotic associated *Clostridium difficile* colitis (Murray et al., 1999).

Bacitracin has growth-promoting qualities and can be added to animal feed. One of its advantages is its selectivity, since bacitracin does not affect all microorganisms, but only some groups. As mentioned previously, bacitracin inhibits mainly the development of Gram-positive bacteria (clostridia, micrococci, pneumococci, staphylococci and streptococci), which means it does not destroy useful Gram-negative bacteria in the digestive tract. Without Gram-positive competitors, Gram-negative bacteria can afterwards increase the production of vitamins (Hejzlar et al., 1980). Butaye et al. (2003) states that bacitracin is more stable as a zinc salt. Both bacitracin and Zn-bacitracin are used as growth promoters and in some topical preparations in human and veterinary medicine. Another advantage is that all types of bacitracin are absorbed very little or not at all in the intestines (shown in chickens, pigs and rats). Therefore, no residues can be found in meat when the product is administered orally (Butaye et al., 2003; Froyshov et al, 1986) Bacitracin favorably affects body weight gains of calves, chickens and pigs (Hejzlar et al., 1980) and in the United States it is a common antibiotic used in pig and poultry industry (Arikan et al., 2008). According to Opletal and Skřivanová (2010), before the ban of antibiotics as growth promoters in the European Union, Zn-bacitracin was used at the doses of 5 to 20 mg/kg in calves to the maximum age of 6 months, in pigs it was also used until the age of 6 months and in poultry the maximum age was 16 weeks. In chickens it was observed that with the administration of bacitracin at the doses of 55 to 110 ppm to the feed, necrotic enteritis caused by Clostridium perfringens was prevented (Butaye et al., 2003).

Virginiamycin

Virginiamycin is produced by Streptomyces virginiae and was first isolated in 1955

by De Somer. It is a depsipeptide antibiotic composed of two components A and B (Hejzlar et al., 1980). When used individually, bacteriostatic qualities can be observed, but in combination the components show marked synergism and are bactericidal against Grampositive bacteria. The antibiotics are inhibitors of protein synthesis and act on the ribosomes (Petroski and McCormick, 1992). In medicine virginiamycin is applied only locally in the form of creams, drops, ointments or powders. As possible side effects one can consider contact allergy and photosensibilization. When administrated orally, diarrhea, nausea and stomach pain can appear (Hejzlar et al., 1980). The drug is not absorbed after oral administration (Giguere et al., 2006), therefore, no residues are found in muscles and organs, as was seen in chickens (Butaye et al., 2003).

Besides the use of virginiamycin in topical preparations for human and veterinary medicine, it is also used at levels around 20 ppm to promote growth in animals in many countries (Butaye et al., 2003; Giguere et al., 2006). For example in the United States it is commonly served to promote growth in both chickens and pigs (Mackie et al., 2006). According to Opletal and Skřivanová (2010), before the ban in the European Union, virginiamycin was used at the doses of 5 to 20 mg/kg in calves until the age of 16 weeks, in pigs with the maximum age of 6 months and in poultry with no limitation on the maximum age. As for pigs, virginiamycin also affects litter performance when applied to sows during pregnancy and lactation. Considering poultry, in an experiment of Cervantes et al. (2011) on turkey hens it was demonstrated that birds fed diets supplemented with 22 ppm of virginiamycin were significantly heavier than those from the control group. Furthermore, they also had significantly better feed conversion ratio. Johnson et al. (1998) found out in his study that nontherapeutic levels of virginiamycin reduce fermentative acidosis in the hindgut and thus lessen some behavioral problems associated with management of stabled horses and the intake of grain.

Flavomycin

This growth promoting antibiotic was invented in 1962-1969 by the Farbwerke Hoechst AG Company (Hejzlar et al., 1980). Flavomycin (also known as: bambermycin, flavophospholipol and moenomycin) is a glycolipid antibiotic produced by *Streptomyces bambergiensis*, *S. ghanaensis*, *S. geysirensis*, and *S. ederensis* (Butaye et al., 2003; Huber and Nesemann, 1968). The product is manufactured as a complex of very similar

components, of which moenomycin A, a phosphorus-containing glycolipid, is the main component (Butaye et al., 2003). Flavomycin is active primarily against Gram-positive organisms but it also inhibits certain Gram-negative bacteria, such as *Pasteurella*, *Brucella* (Huber and Nesemann, 1968) and *Listeria* (Hejzlar et al., 1980). Its spectrum of activity also covers staphylococci and streptococci (Butaye et al., 2003)

Flavomycin is not used for medical treatment. It is only applied as a growthpromoting antibacterial in animal feeds, commonly in cattle, chickens, pigs and turkeys (Butaye et al., 2003; Pfaller, 2006). For this purpose it is produced as a mixture of mycelia from producing strains and antibiotic at the concentration of 5g of active substance on 1kg. Pure product is used just for experiments, reasons for this are mainly economical. As a growth promoter, flavomycin has many favorable attributes, for example it is not absorbed (only 0.02% is absorbed) so there are no residues in animal tissues. Flavomycin does not have any side effects and does not cause allergic reactions (Hejzlar et al., 1980). According to Pfaller (2006), it also has the following advantages: flavomycin does not kill beneficial bacteria in the gut, such as *Lactobacillus* spp. and *Bifidobacterium* spp., but is known to suppress certain microorganisms, for example Staphylococcus spp. and Enterococcus *faecalis*. Therefore, this growth promoter contributes to the improvement of gut microflora, providing a barrier to colonization by pathogenic bacteria and resulting in improved weight gain and feed conversion. Before the withdrawal of antibiotic growth promoters in the European Union, flavomycin had been used in calves of up to six months of age at the dose of 6 to 16 mg/kg, in pigs and poultry at the dose of 1 to 20 mg/kg for six months and sixteen weeks respectively. It was also used in cattle at the dose of 2 to 10 mg/kg and in rabbits at the dose of 2 to 4 mg/kg (Opletal and Skřivanová, 2010). In broilers flavomycin reduces the incidence of the animal pathogens Salmonella and Clostridium (Bolder et al., 1999) and in ruminants it modulates the gut microflora. The dose of 20 mg per day results in decreased ruminal ammonia and total volatile fatty acid concentrations (Edwards et al., 2005). Flavomycin is also used as a growth promoter in aquacultures in China, since it also has an effect on the autochthonous intestinal microflora in some fish (He et al., 2010).

1.2. Problems in the use of antibiotics in animal production

1.2.1. Antibiotic resistance

According to Drlica and Perlin (2011), resistance is a condition when an antibiotic fails to harm the pathogen enough to cure a disease. Emergence of resistance often begins with a large pathogen population in which a tiny fraction is naturally resistant to the antibiotic, either through spontaneous changes or through the acquisition of resistance genes from other microbes. Antibiotic treatment kills or halts the growth of the major, susceptible portion of the microbial population. That, unfortunately, favors the growth of the pathogen population composed of resistant cells. Subsequent treatment with the same antibiotic does little good. If the resistant organisms spread to other people, the resulting infection is resistant even before treatment and the control of such an infection requires a different antibiotic. The development of resistance is accelerated by mutagenic action of some antibiotics, by the movement of resistance genes from one microbial species to another, and by excessive and inappropriate use of antibiotics. Considering genetic transferability of resistance, mobile elements (such as plasmids, transposons and other genetic material) play a key role in the horizontal spread of resistance genes among bacteria. Plasmids contain resistance genes and can replicate independently of the host chromosome. Transposons can exist on plasmids or integrate into other transposons or the host's chromosome (Devirgiliis et al. 2011; Alekshun and Levi 2007).

As is mentioned above, resistance may also be caused by inappropriate and excessive use of antibiotics both in human medicine and in animal husbandry (Mateus et al., 2011). In humans, the most serious problems are caused by methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), extended spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs) produced by Gram-negative penicillin-resistant and multi-resistant bacteria, pneumococci Mycobacterium tuberculosis. None of these have any connection to the use of antibiotics in agriculture (Barton and Hart, 2001). When resistance appeared, pharmacological industry started to develop new compounds to deal with this problem. In recent years the invention of new agents slowed down, which had a negative impact on the ability to treat serious infections (Phillips et al., 2004). In animal husbandry antibiotics are used for prophylaxis, chemotherapy and growth promotion. Routine use of antibiotics for growth promotion in food-animals constitutes a serious public health problem, especially in cases where the same classes of antibiotics are used in humans. In 1969, the Swann Committee of the United Kingdom concluded that antibiotics used in human medicine or those that promote cross resistance should not be used as growth promoters in animals. Since then, there has been continuous debate about the extent to which the use of antibiotics in food animals contributes to resistance in bacteria that infect humans. The resistant bacteria can spread to humans by food or by animal contact. Improved analytical techniques have provided evidence that resistance is increased by antibiotics in animal feed. The ban on antibiotics as growth promoters in the European Union has led to reductions in the prevalence of resistant bacteria in food and food animals, as well as in humans (Wegener 2003, Witte 1998). Still, opinions differ. Whereas some are convinced about the dangers of unregulated and unnecessary use of antibiotics, especially of growth promoters in animal husbandry (Singer et al., 2003), others, such as Phillips (2007) disagree with the ban on antibiotics just on the basis of the Precautionary Principle and argue that there has been little opportunity for discussion on the withdrawal of antibiotic growth promoters in a purely scientific forum.

1.2.2. Antibiotic Residues

Antibiotic residues can be found both in animal products and in the environment. In the first case antibiotic residues can appear in animal tissues and in milk when sufficient withdrawal periods between treatment and slaughter or milking are not followed (O'Keeffe and Kennedy, 1998). The withdrawal period is the time needed for the active substance to decrease to the maximum residue level. The maximum residue level has been established by the Commission of the European Union and is set individually for each food product and species. It is based not only on the level of the active substance which remains in the animal tissue at the end of medical treatment but also on the amount of this particular food product consumed by the population on daily basis (Serratosa et al., 2006). Examples of selected maximum residue levels in the European Union can be seen in Table 1. One of the drawbacks of the definition of maximum residue levels is that there are individuals who do not consume the average diet and also those who can be supplied with foods from only one particular source (O'Keeffe and Kennedy, 1998). The negative effect of exposure to antibiotic residue can be allergic reactions, especially to neomycin, penicillin and sulfonamides. This type of allergic reaction is not dose dependent, therefore, even very small amounts can have an intense effect (Woolcock, 1991). Furthermore, other

Antibiotic	Animal species	Target tissue	Maximum resi- due level
Ampicillin	all food producing ani- mals	fat, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	4-50 μg/kg
Bacitracin	bovine, rabbit	fat, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	100-150 µg/kg
Chlortetracycline	all food producing ani- mals	eggs, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	100-600 µg/kg
Monensin	bovine	fat, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	2-30 µg/kg
Neomycin	all food producing ani- mals	eggs, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	500-5,000 μg/kg
Oxytetracycline	all food producing ani- mals	eggs, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	100-600 µg/kg
Sulfonamides	all food producing ani- mals	eggs, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	100 μg/kg
Tylosin	all food producing ani- mals	eggs, kidney, milk, muscle, liver	50-200 μg/kg

Table 1: Maximum residue levels of selected antibiotics (Regulation EC/37/2010)

pathological effects can occur, such as bone marrow toxicity (chloramphenicol), carcinogenicity (oxytetracycline), hepatotoxicity, mutagenicity, nephropathy (gentamicin), reproductive disorders and other effects (Nisha, 2008). When residues of antimicrobial agents surpass the agreed maximum residue levels, they can contribute to the development of resistance in bacteria in humans (Al-Dobaib and Mousa, 2009).

As far as antibiotic residues in the environment are concerned, many antibiotics are poorly absorbed in the gut and subsequently both the compound itself and its breakdown products (Mackie et al., 2006) are largely excreted in the feces and urine of animals and humans (Khan et al., 2008). The amount of antibiotics excreted can reach up to 75 % (Arikan et al., 2009; Mackie et al., 2006) and even up to 100 % for streptomycin and lincomycin (Woolcock, 1991). Together with antibiotic residues, resistant microbial

population can also be excreted with feces (Mackie et al., 2006) as was shown in a research of Haack and Andrews (2000), where 71 % of isolates of *Enterococcus faecalis* obtained from a swine farrowing house were resistant to tetracycline.

Since animal excrements and urine are usually used for land application in the way of manure, they can act as the source of contamination of soil, surface and groundwater (Mackie et al., 2006). Interestingly, in a study of Schlusener et al. (2006) focused on antibiotics in liquid manure tanks before their application on fields, it was shown that for some antibiotics the storage time enhanced degradation. The resulting half-lives were 41 days for erythromycin, 130 days for roxithromycin and 6 days for salinomycin. Only tiamulin remained unchanged for the whole of the 180 day long experiment. In several studies of Arikan et al. (2007, 2009) aiming at the behaviour of chlortetracycline and oxytetracycline in the composting process, it was proved that composting lowers the levels of extractable chlortetracycline and oxytetracycline in manure. Furthermore, the impact of composting on the number of chlortetracycline-resistant organisms was also investigated. It was shown that their number was greatly lowered. When we consider antibiotic residues after manure application on the field, resulting residual concentrations can vary from a few μ g up to g/kg. The mobility and transport of antibiotics in the soil is greatly influenced by the soil pH and many antibiotics can be photoderaded. However, this process is not very effective in the soil. On the other hand, biotransformation by microbial processes works better for antibiotic degradation and inactivation. The higher the number of microorganisms and the more aerobic the setting, the more effective the degradation is. Still, some antibiotics can persist in the soil and their metabolites can preserve their antibiotic effect, which influences microbes in the soil (Thiele-Bruhn, 2003) and plants, as was demonstrated in an experiment by Migliore et al. (1996) with Hordeum distichum treated with 300 mg of sulfadimethyoxine per liter and grown on synthetic medium and soil. This experiment showed that bioaccumulation of the drug was higher in the synthetic medium, while in the soil it was lower but still quite high. Therefore, there is a potential risk for human health. Some antibiotic residues can also be found in groundwater or surface water due to soil leaching or rain (Khan et al., 2008), as was shown in the study of Campagnolo and his colleagues (2002) of antimicrobial compounds contaminating surface and groundwater near swine and poultry farms.

1.3. Alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters

New alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters, which are currently in research or are already in practical use, do not have such a pronounced impact as early antibiotic growth promoters. Unlike antibiotic growth promoters, whose effect was basically antibacterial and antiprotozoal and which were affecting muscle growth or egg production, newer agents influence more areas of animal physiology, in milder and more complex way, without reducing the safety of feed and food chain (Opletal and Skřivanová, 2010).

Still, in the search for new methods of how to improve animal health in modern animal production systems, we should consider not only factors like nutrient supply or feeding strategy but also other important features like stocking density, environmental temperature and hygienic level (Thomke and Elwinger, 1998). In the following chapter I would like to describe several non-antibiotic growth promoters and their use in animal husbandry.

1.3.1. Non-antibiotic growth promoters

Probiotics

Probiotics are live microbial feed supplements beneficial for the host by improving its intestinal microbial balance, since they are able to prevent the colonization of the intestinal tract by potentially pathogenic microorganisms. While a wild animal acquires gut microflora from its mother and from the environment contaminated with its mother's bacteria, in modern methods of rearing animals we have to deal with the problem of restricted access to the mother and, therefore, with the lack of microflora which would otherwise protect the new-born animal. In poultry industry, the egg is usually taken from the hen and hatching happens in a clean incubator. Thus, probiotics work well in poultry (Fuller, 1989; Verstegen and Williams, 2002), as was shown in the experiment of Shivaramaiah et al. (2011) when chickens and poults were administered Bacillus spp., resulting in reduced Salmonella typhimurium incidence and in increased body weight gain in both chicks and poults. In a different study of Zulkifli et al. (2000) it was shown that chickens which were administered Lactobacillus cultures had greater body weight and better food efficiency than the control group. Body weight and weight gain was similar to chickens with oxytetracycline diet, while food efficiency was even better. In a review of Mantere-Alhonen (1995) beneficial results in calves and piglets were also proved. Strains

of bacteria commonly used as probiotics are as follows: *Bacillus* spp., *Bifidobacterium* spp., *Enterococcus faecium*, avirulent *Escherichia coli*, *Lactobacillus* spp., *Lactococcus lactis*, *Pediococcus pentosaceus*, *Saccharomyces cerevisidae* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* (Vondruskova et al., 2010). Probiotics are commercially available, as an example can serve Cernivet[®], which contains *Enterococcus faecium* strain and is designed for calves, chickens and pigs (Anonymous, 2009b). Other probiotic products are manufactured by Vit-E-Men Company for cattle, pigs, poultry and sheep (Anonymous, 2010e).

Prebiotics

Prebiotics are non-digestible food ingredients that improve the host's health by stimulating the growth and/or activity of one or a limited number of bacteria in the colon, namely, the lactobacilli and the bifidobacteria (Gibson and Roberfroid, 1995). Their main components are oligosaccharides and their most common natural source is grain legumes. Some oligosaccharides can also be derived from fruits and wheat (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). Oligosaccharides used as prebiotics are as follows: fructooligosaccharides, galactooligosaccharides, inulin, isomaltooligosaccharides, lactulose, mannanoligosaccharides, soybeanoligosaccharides and xylooligosaccharides (Vondruskova et al., 2010). In an experiment of Belle et al (2009) on growing and finishing pigs the use of prebiotics (fructooligosaccharide and mannanoligosaccharide) showed similar results on performance as apramycin treatment. In chickens the beneficial effect on body weight gain and feed conversion ratio due to supplementation with prebiotics, probiotics and their combination was also proved (Nyamagonda et al., 2011). An example of commercially available Celmanax[®], which contains prebiotic is mannanoligosaccharide, d-mannose, galactosamine, glucomannans and glucosamine and is designed for aquacultures, cattle, horses and poultry (Anonymous, 2009c). Another example is the Vitalan[®] prebiotic feed additive, which is designed especially for cows (Anonymous, 2006).

Synbiotics

Synbiotics are defined as a mixture of probiotics and prebiotics that beneficially affects the host. They improve the survival and implantation of live microbial dietary supplements in the gastrointestinal tract by stimulating the growth and/or by activating the

metabolism of one or a limited number of health-promoting bacteria (Gibson and Roberfroid, 1995). Nemcova et al. (1999) confirmed the synergistic effect of *Lactobacillus paracasei* and fructooligosaccharide combination on faecal microflora of weaned pigs. It was observed that lactobacilli and bifidobacteria counts were increased while clostridia, enterobacteriacea and *Escherichia coli* counts were lowered. Also, in calves a beneficial effect of synbiotics was proved in the study of Jatkauskas and Vrotniakiene (2009) when the occurrence of post weaning diarrhea and its severity was lowered by 40% and the average daily gain and feed conversion rate were improved by 15.3% and 12.8% respectively. Example of commercially available synbiotic is ProfloraTM (Anonymous, 2012a).

Enzymes

Cereal animal feeds contain non-starch polysaccharides (such as arabinoxylans, β glucans, celluloses, hemicelluloses and pectins). Non-starch polysaccharides can have a negative effect on growth and performance (Huyghebaert et al., 2011), since they increase gut viscosity as was seen in birds. This reduces the speed of passage and diffusion of digestive enzymes and it also contributes to the loss of endogenous enzymes and stimulates bacterial proliferation. Supplementation with enzymes reverses this effect and leads to increased performance (Choct et al., 1996; Verstegen and Williams, 2002). It is now common that poultry feeds contain enzymes such as xylanases and β -glucanases, which break down non-starch polysaccharides (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). An example of a commercially available product is Profytase 5000, which contains phytase enzyme and is designed for cattle, chickens and pigs (Anonymous, 1999). Other examples of enzyme feed additives are Natuphos[®] (containing enzyme phytase) and Natugrain[®] TS (containing glucanase and xylanase) designed especially for pigs and poultry (Anonymous, 2012b).

Organic acids

Organic acids are widely distributed in nature as common constituents of plants or animal tissues (Huyghebaert et al., 2011). They are also formed in the ceca of poultry, where they contribute to the reduction of *Enterobacteriaceae* (van der Wielen et al., 2000). Beneficial effects of organic acids are probably not only due to their energy contribution but also due to improved protein digestion, decreased gastric pH and decreased bacterial growth (Partanen and Mroz, 1999; Verstegen and Williams, 2002). An effect on pigs was observed by Partanen et al. (2007), when a mixture of formic acid, propionic acid and potassium sorbate decreased feed conversion ratio, lessened the severity of post-weaning diarrhea and also enhanced weight gain during finishing period and total fattening. In a study of Haque et al. (2010), which compared the effect of citric acid and flavomycin in broilers, it was concluded that citric acid increases weight gain, feed intake, tibia ash deposition and non-specific immunity, as well as feed efficiency and carcass yield and that citric acid is a potential alternative to the antibiotic growth promoter flavomycin. An example of commercially available organic acid feed additive is Selacid-Green, which contains short chain fatty acids and medium chain fatty acids and is designed for aquacultures, pigs and poultry (Anonymous, 2011c).

1.3.2. Biologically active constituents of plants

In this chapter I describe the beneficial effects of herbs and botanicals. I focus mainly on essential oils, since they are the most commonly used compounds of phytogenic feed additives in animal husbandry, as can be seen in Table 2. According to Huyghebaert et al., (2011) many plants have beneficial multifunctional properties derived from their specific bio-active components. Biologically active constituents of plants are mostly secondary metabolites, such as terpenoids (mono- and sesquiterpenes, steroids, etc.), phenolics (tannins), glycosides and alkaloids (present as alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, lactones, esters, etc.). The use of constituents derived from plants is problematic because there is a lot of variation in composition, mainly due to biological factors, such as plant species, growing location and harvest conditions. Variation is further influenced by the techniques of extraction, distillation and stabilization and also by storage conditions, which are affected by light, temperature and time. Herbs and botanicals can have various beneficial effects on farm animals. They may for example reduce the negative effects of stress factors in the animal, act preventively against pathogens of microbial and protozoal character, improve immunity, have anti-inflammatory effect, stimulate microflora of the digestive tract, increase the bioavailability of nutrients, have an antioxidative effect, act as promoters of growth, increase performance and fertility, influence the appearance and quality of animal products and improve the welfare of farm animals (Barug et al., 2006; Opletal and Skřivanová, 2010).

Source	(Anonymous, 2011a) (Anonymous, 2011b)	(Anonymous, 2010a) (Steiner, N/A)	(Anonymous, 2009a)	(Anonymous, 2011c)
Dosage			cattle: 300-1,200 mg / head /day, rest: 50-200 mg/kg of feed	300 mg/kg
Effect	Improvement of the palatability of feed and for reduction of ammonia, stabilisation of diges- tive tract, prevention against we- aning problems, etc.	Supports digestion and feed uti- lization.	Increase live weight gain, im- prove feed efficiency, etc.	Reduces the populations of po- tentially pathogenic bacteria, does not affect the beneficial Lactobacilli, increases daily weight gain, improves feed conversion ratio.
Active ingredient	basic constituents are for example essential oils, saponins, bitter substances and flavonoids	essential oils from oregano, anise and citrus	blend of essential oil compounds	benzoic acid and blend of essential oil componds (including thymol, eugenol, piperine)
Applied ani- mal	dairy cows, pigs, poultry	aquatic animals, poultry, swine, young ru- minants	cattle, pigs, poultry	broiler
Company	DELACON	Biomin®	DSM	DSM
Product	AROMEX [®] ME Plus FRESTA [®] F Plus FRESTA [®] F Profertil FRESTA [®] F Profertil FRESTA [®] Gel BIOSTRONG [®] 510 BIOSTRONG [®] 505 BIOSTRONG [®] 505 PLORMIZER [®] RUMEX [®] RUMEX SC [®]	Biomin [®] P.E.P	CRINA [®] Finishing Pigs and Sows CRINA [®] Poultry CRINA [®] Ruminants	CRINA [®] Poultry Plus

Table 2: Commercially available phytogenic feed additives

Product	Company	Applied animal	Active ingredient	Effect	Dosage	Source
DOSTO [®] Powder DOSTO [®] Liquid DOSTO [®] Green DOSTO [®] Emulsion	DOSTOFARM®	calves, lambs, pigs, poultry	origanum oil	Stimulates appetite, improves feed consumption, etc.	powders: 0.25-2,000 g/ton of feed, liquid: 0.25-1,000 g / 1,000 l, piglets 2-3 ml/head	(Anonymous, 2008)
ENVIRO Plus	DELACON	shrimps	active ingredients are based on a standardized com- plex of triterpenoid sapo- nins	Optimizes weight gain, feed conversion and survivability.		(Anonymous, 2011a)
Extra-Health (sow lactogenic powder)	Guangzhou Tan- ke Industry Co., Ltd.	pigs	angelica, hemlock parsley, dangshen, wang- buliuxing, etc.	Resolves the sows constipation, improves feed intake, increases production, improves the survival rate and birth weight of piglets, enhances sow lactation and anti-stress, reduces the boar's cleft feet and other hoof disease, etc.	2-3 kg/ton of feed	(Anonymous, 2010b)
Orego-Stim [®] Fin Fish Orego-Stim [®] Poultry Orego-Stim [®] Ruminant Orego-Stim [®] Shrimp Orego-Stim [®] Swine	Meriden Animal Health Ltd.	aquatic animals, cattle, pigs, poultry	oregano essential oil	Utilising feed more efficiently, boosting immunity against pathogens, increasing weight gain, increasing survivability, improving feed conversion ratio, maximising intestinal health, etc.	aq. animals: 125-1,000 ppm, rest: 125 ml – 500 ml/1,000 l of water	(Anonymous, 2010c), email communication

Table 2: Commercially available phytogenic feed additives (Continued)

Table 2: Commer	Table 2: Commercially available phytogenic feed additives (Continued)	ogenic feed	1 additives (Contir	nued)		
Product	Company	Applied animal	Active ingredient	Effect	Dosage	Source
Saccharicterpenin	Hangzhou Tangtian Technology Co., Ltd.	aquatic animals, cattle, pigs, poultry	standardized com- plex of triterpenoid sapo- nin and saccharide (<i>Ca-</i> <i>mellia</i> L.)	standardized com- plex of triterpenoid sapo- nin and saccharide (<i>Ca-</i> <i>mellia</i> L.) Regulate immune function, lower mortality and morbidity, lower mortality and morbidity, improve average daily gain and feed conversion rate, etc.	aq. animals: 100-2,000 (Anonymous, 2010d) g/ton of feed, cattle: 8-10 g /day /head, rest: 100-500g/ ton of feed	(Anonymous, 2010d)

Continued)
\sim
additives
q
c fee
ogenic
phytc
e)
nmercially available phytogenic feed a
ъ
cially
\mathcal{O}
e 2: Coi
le
p.
Tab

Table 2 shows phytogenic feed additives, which are currently in commercial use, their effect, target animal species and recommended dosage. In the table one can see that essential oils are of main interest within the commercial sphere. In their review Franz et al. (2010) recommend for essential oils to be microencapsulated when they are administered to animals, since then the losses and reaction with air can be avoided. The benefits of essential oils are their antimicrobial effect and also slight irritation of intestine tissue, which causes a pronounced production of mucus and thus prevents the adhesion of pathogenic microorganisms. Another benefit of the use of essential oils and plants providing these essential oils (aromatic plants) is their antioxidative effect, which causes an improved oxidation stability of the carcass, egg yolk and fat. However, the drawback of the use of essential oils is that they can influence the flavor of animal products. Special care should be taken especially while using certain species, such as parsley and caraway. The growth promoting effect of essential oil mixture from anise, citrus and oregano (Biomin® P.E.P. 125 poultry) was proved in an experiment by Hong et al., 2012 with broilers. The group supplemented with essential oil had improved feed/gain ratio in the course of the whole experiment (42 days), while the group supplemented with oxytetracycline had improved feed/gain ratio during the first 21 days. Compared to control group, both oxytetracycline and essential oil increased the survival rate by 10% and decreased ileum ammonia concentration. Other beneficial effect of supplementing the feed with essential oil was that breast muscles were more tender and tight muscles were juicier, compared to both control group and oxytetracycline supplemented group. Interestingly, the broiler supplemented with essential oil had longer duodenum villi. In a study of Mathlouthi et al. (2012) dealing with the effectiveness of essential oils (namely oregano, rosemary, mixture of oregano and rosemary and commercial blend), it was observed that the supplementation of broilers' diet with essential oils significantly increased feed efficiency compared to the control group. Moreover, the body weight and body weight gain was greater in groups receiving essential oil than in the control group. There was no difference observed in feed efficiency and growth performance among broilers supplemented with essential oil or with avilamycin.

When searching for new medical materials on promoting health and well-being of animals, ethnoveterinary medicine can be a useful approach (Wynn and Fougère, 2007). Stein et al. (2005) in their ethnoveterinary study on antifungal drugs claim that only a very

small part of the known plant species has been evaluated for antifungal properties. Due to the rapid speed of plant species extinction it is necessary to collect and screen plants in order to avoid the loss of important sources. Interesting information can be found in a review of Viegi et al. (2004), which states that in Italy more than 280 plants have been used in folk veterinary medicine. Plants, such as Quercus cerris bark, Smilax apera shoots, Quercus pubescens bark, Tamus communis berries were used for treating the inflammation caused by yoke or saddle. For the treatment of mastitis nine plants were used, including Brassica oleracea, Avena sativa, Anagallis arvensis, Linum usitatissimum and Scrophularia canina. Interestingly, to prevent mastitis Buxus sempervirens was placed in the litter. Twenty-three plants were found to treat diarrhea and twenty to treat respiratory difficulties. The family with the most medicinal plants was found to be Asteraceae, followed by Lamiaceae, Ranunculaceae, Fabaceae, Apiaceae, Rosaceae, Liliaceae, Poaceae and Euphorbiaceae. In British Columbia several plants such as Chenopodium ambrosioides, Ch. album and Artemisia vulgaris were used to treat internal parasites in poultry. Leaves of Nicotiana rustica were applied for the treatment of Heterakis gallinarum and Histomonas meleagridis (Lans and Turner, 2011).

Based on the above mentioned data, plants seem to be promising materials for the development of products with properties, such as antimicrobial, antioxidative, antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effects, suitable for substitution of antibiotic growth promoters. However, only a limited number of studies or reviews is focused on plantderived products with the whole complex of desired biological action. Thus, I presume that detailed systematic analysis of literature data could lead to identification of plant species promising for further evaluation in *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* tests focused on the development of growth promoting agents.

23

2. Objectives

The aim of this thesis is the identification of plant species with complex antimicrobial, antioxidative, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects as potential substituents of antibiotic growth promoters in animal nutrition. The additional objective is summarization of data on introduction.

3. Materials and methods

Data on biological activity (antimicrobial, antioxidative, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory) of the individual plants were collected from scientific databases (Web of Knowledge, PubMed and Google Scholar) using the following keywords: plant*, extract*, antimicrobial*, antioxidative*, immunomodulatory* and anti-inflammatory*. Plant names were verified using on-line databases, namely the International Plant Name Index (IPNI) and the Multilingual Multiscript Plant Name Database (MMPLD). Information on introduction was retrieved from the scientific databases (Web of Knowledge, PubMed and Google Scholar) and from other scientific literature.

4. Results and discussion

As a result of literature analysis, I have identified five plants (Balanites aegyptiacus, Echinacea purpurea, Ocimum sanctum, Phyllanthus emblica and Zingiber officinale) in which the complex antibacterial, antioxidative, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory properties have previously been reported in various studies. I have also identified eleven plants (Acacia nilotica, Baccharis dracunculifolia, Capparis spinosa, Dicranopteris linearis, Dittrichia viscosa, Laurus nobilis, Melissa officinalis, Nigella sativa, Prunella vulgaris, Thymbra capitata, and Vitis vinifera) with three out of four of the abovementioned effects. The detailed data on scientific name, common synonyms, family, part tested, extract solvent or fraction and biological properties (antimicrobial, antioxidative, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory) is shown in Table 3 (containing plants with all the required biological effects) and in Table 4 (containing plants with three out of the four required biological effects). To demonstrate biological properties of an individual plant, the best value of a pharmacological effect was always chosen and the particular target of the assay used was noted. As far as the extracts are concerned, the search was focused on polar solvents, such as ethanol, methanol and water, due to the presence of polar substances, which should guarantee good solubility and accessibility for a living organism. Considering biological properties in Table 4, the form of essential oil was also searched due to the lack of data on polar solvents.

Considering antimicrobial action, *B. aegyptiacus, O. sanctum* and *Z. officinale* previously exhibited significant *in vitro* growth-inhibitory effect against various species of pathogenic microorganisms (*Candida albicans, Helicobacter pylori* and *Trichophyton mentagrophytes*) with lowest MICs ranging from 125 to 300 µg/ml (Balakumar et al. 2011; Maregesi et al. 2008; Nanjundaiah et al. 2011), which corresponds with parameters proposed by Rios and Recio (2005) for antimicrobially effective plant-derived products (MIC < 1 mg/ml for extracts). Moreover, the leaf aqueous extract of *O. sanctum* has been reported to possess antimicrobial activity also in *in vivo* treatment of bovine sub clinical mastitis, when total bacterial count was significantly lowered (Mukherjee et al. 2005). The proved *in vivo* effectiveness together with relatively strong *in vitro* action observed by Balakumar et al. (2011) against broad spectrum of microorganisms (*Trichophyton mentagrophytes, Trichophyton rubrum, Microsporum gypseum, Microsporum nanum* and *Epidermophyton flocossum*) suggest *O. sanctum* as a prospective antimicrobial agent.

TADIC J. I MIN SPECIES DOSSESSING COMPLEX DIOLOGICAL CHECKS	ITEEDEEDA	18 vullipiva	UNUDERAL VILVE			
ءِ ر				Biologic	Biological effect	
Scientific name/Common syno- nyms/Family	Part tested	Extract/ Frac- tion	Antimicrobial Method/Concentration/ Microorganism/Reference	Antioxidative Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Immunomodulatory Method/Concentration/ Ef- fect/Reference	Anti-inflammatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference
Balanites aegyptiacus (L.) Delile/Balanites aegyptiaca (L) Deli- le/Balanitaceae	stern barks	ethanol or methanol extract	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution method) MIC = 125 μg/ml <i>Candida albicans</i> (Maregesi et al., 2008)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) $IC_{50} = 53 \mu g/ml$ (Karou et al., 2011)	<i>In vitro</i> [cell oxidative burst response (blood)] C = 100 µg/mL Inhibition: 76% (Koko et al., 2008)	<i>In vitro</i> (reduction of paw oedema in rat) Dose = 200 mg/kg: (in 2.5 h) Reduction: 28% (Speroni et al., 2005)
Echinacea purpurea (L.) Moench/Rudbeckia purpurea L., Brauneria purpurea (L.) Brit- ton/Asteraceae	aerial parts (stems, leaves, and flowers)	ethanol or methanol extract	<i>In vitro</i> (agar well diffusion method) C = 20,000 μg/ml <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> Zone of inhibition = 26 mm (Stanisavljevic et al., 2009)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) C = 2000 μg/ml Inhibition: 61% (Orhan et al., 2009)	<i>In vitro</i> (Flow cytometry) C = 50 μg/ml Murine bone marrow- derived dendritic cells phe- notypically examined: Increased frequency of CD11c+ cells by 19%. (Benson et al., 2010)	In vitro (COX-2 assay) C = $2 \mu g/m l$ Reduction: 28% (Benson et al., 2010)
Ocimum sanctum L. /Geniosporum tenuiflo- rum (L.) Merr., O. al- bum Blanco, O. brachi- atum Hassk., non Blume, O. flexuosum Blanco, O. frutescens sensu Burn. f., non L, O. gratissimumsensu Lour., non L., O. hirsu- tum Benth., O. ino- dorum Burn. f., O. monachorum L., O.	leaf	aqueous or ethanol or methanol extract	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution method) MIC = 167 μg/ml <i>Trichophyton men-</i> <i>tagrophytes</i> (Balakumar et al., 2011) <i>In vivo</i> (treatment in bovine sub clinical mastitis, total bacterial count) Dose = 100 mg/day (day 30): total bacterial count lowered by 85% (Mukherjee et al., 2005)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) $IC_{50} = 88 \mu g/ml$ (Dutta and Maharia, 2012)	<i>In vivo</i> (milk differential leukocyte count) Dose = 0.2 mg/kg Neutrophyl: day 3: increase by 12% <i>In vivo</i> (phagocytic activi- ty) Dose = 0.2 mg/kg day 3: increase by 58% (Mukherjee et al., 2005)	<i>In vivo</i> (excision wound model): Dose = 400 mg/kg Wound contraction (in 14 days): 100% (Shetty et al., 2008)

Table 3: Plant species possessing complex biological effects

Table 3: Plant species	possessii	ng complex	Table 3: Plant species possessing complex biological effects (Continued)	(pani		
Scientific				Biologi	Biological effect	
name/Common syno- nyms/Family	Part tested	Extract/ Fraction	Antimicrobial Method/Concentration/ Microorganism/Reference	Antioxidative Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Immunomodulatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Anti-inflammatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference
sanctum L. var. hirsuta (Benth.) Hook. f., O. tomentosum Lam., O. villosum Roxb., O. vir- gatum Blanco, non Thunb., Plectranthus monachorum (L.) Spreng., P. striatussensu Musch- ler & Hosseus, non Benth./Lamiaceae						
Phyllanthus emblica L./Emblica officinalis Gaertn., Cicca emblica Kurz, Mirobalanus em- bilica Burm., P. mairei Lév. /Euphorbiaceae	fruit or fruit pulp	aqueous extract or methanol or supernatant (<i>in vivo</i>)	<i>In vitro</i> (agar dilution method) MIC = 7,000 μg/ml <i>Candida albicans</i> (Mehmood et al., 1999)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) IC ₅₀ = 4 μg/ml (Nampoothiri et al., 2011)	<i>In vivo</i> (mice sensitized with sheep red blood cells, white blood cell count) Dose = 100 mg/kg day 19: increase by 57% (Suja et al., 2009)	<i>In vivo</i> (adjuvant induced arthritic rat model, ani- mals injected with com- plete Freund's adjuvant, paw oedema measure- ment) Dose = 25 mg/kg day 5: inhibition: 58% (Ganju et al., 2003)

Table 3: Plant species	possessing	g complex	Table 3: Plant species possessing complex biological effects (Continued)	nued)		
Scientific				Biolog	Biological effect	
name/Common syno- nyms/Family	Part test- ed	Extract/ Fraction	Antimicrobial Method/Concentration/ Microorganism/Reference	Antioxidative Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Immunomodulatory Method/Concentration/ Ef- fect/Reference	Anti-inflammatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference
Zingiber officinale Roscoe/Amomum an- gustifolium Salisb., A. zingiber L./Zingiberaceae	rhizome	aqueous or meth- anol ex- tract or dried and (fed <i>in</i> <i>vivo</i>)	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution method) MIC = 300 μg/ml <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> (Nanjundaiah et al., 2011)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH as- say) IC ₅₀ = 24 μg/ml (Saputri and Jantan 2011)	<i>In vivo</i> (phagocytic activity) Dose = 10 or 17 mg/kg Phagocytic activity (day 14): increase by 25% <i>In vivo</i> (white blood cells count) Dose = 20 or 34 mg/kg Increase by 15% (Nya and Austin 2009)	<i>In vivo</i> (adjuvant- induced arthritis rat model, inhibition of paw oedema) Dose = 200 mg/kg day 29: inhibition: 76% (Ramadan et al., 2011)
The data was rounded	un to who	le number	The data was rounded up to whole numbers and standard deviation was not considered	was not considered		

Table 3: Plant species possessing complex biological effects (Continued)

The data was rounded up to whole numbers and standard deviation was not considered.

1 adde 4. Flant species possessing unce out of four required biological effects	pussesul	iig uiree ou	if of four reduited brocking	cal cilculs		
Scientific				Biolog	Biological effect	
name/Common syno- nyms/Family	Part tested	Extract/ Fraction	Antimicrobial Method/Concentration/ Microorganism/Reference	Antioxidative Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Immunomodulatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Anti-inflammatory Method/Concentration/ Ef- fect/Reference
Acacia nilotica (L.) De- lile/Mimosa nilotica L., A. arabica (Lam.) Willd., A. scorpioides W. Wight, A. vera Willd., M. arabica L./Mimosaceae L./Mimosaceae	stem bark	extract	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution me- thod) MIC = 1,560 μg/ml <i>Mycobacterium aurum</i> (Eldeen and Van Staden 2006)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) C = 4 μg/ml Inhibition: 87% (Sultana et al., 2007)	<i>In vitro</i> (luminol/lucigenin- based chemiluminescence assay, cell oxidative burst response of isolated poly- morphonuclear and mono- nuclear cells) $C = 6 \ \mu g/mL$ Inhibition 67% (Koko et al., 2008)	
Baccharis dracunculi- folia DC./ Asteraceae	leaves	ethanol extract or dichlor- methane extract	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution me- thod) MIC = 40 μg/ml <i>Cryptococcus neoformans</i> (Filho et al., 2008)		<i>In vitro</i> (H ₂ O ₂ production by peritoneal macrophages) $C = 25 \mu g/ml$ H ₂ O ₂ production: Increas by 160% (Missima et al., 2007)	<i>In vivo</i> (carrageenan- induced paw oedema) Dose = 300 mg/kg Inhibition (3^{rd} hour): 39% (dos Santos et al., 2010)
Capparis spinosa L./C. ovata Desf., C. rupestris Sm., C. spi- nosa L. subsp. rupestris (Sm.) Ny- man/Capparaceae	aerial parts, flower buds	ethanol or methanol extract	<i>In vitro</i> (agar diffusion method) C = 2,000 μg/disc <i>Bacillus cereus</i> Zone of inhibition: 17 mm (Mahasneh 2002)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) EC ₅₀ = 178 μg/mL (Germano et al., 2002)		<i>In vitro</i> (NO assay, Griess reaction) C= 10 μg/mL Inhibition: 57% (Panico et al., 2005)
<i>Dicranopteris linearis</i> (Burm.f.) Underw./Polypodium <i>lineare</i> Burm.f./ Gleicheniaceae	leaves	aqueous or metha- nol ex- tract	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution me- thod) MIC = 1,250 μg/ml <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (Zakaria et al., 2010)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) C = 100 μg/ml Inhibition: 85% (Zakaria et al., 2011)		<i>In vivo</i> (carrageenan- induced paw oedema test) Dose = 66 mg/kg Thickness of paw oedema: hour 3: inhibition: 17% (Zakaria et al., 2008)

Table 4: Plant species possessing three out of four required biological effects

14010 4. F 14111 SPULLS	reveeud		taute 7. I tait speeces possessing ande out of tout required provideral citeria (Continued)	מאוועטען שאיטען ש		
				Biological effect	al effect	
scienunc name/Common syno- nyms/Family	Part tested	Extract/ Fraction	Antimicrobial Method/Concentration/ Microorganism/Reference	Antioxidative Meth- od/Concentration/ Ef- fect/Reference	Immunomodulatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Anti-inflammatory Method/Concentration/ Ef- fect/Reference
Dittrichia viscosa (L.) Greuter/ Erigeron viscosus L./Inula viscosa (L.) Aiton/Asteraceae	aerial parts	essential oil	In vitro (agar dilution method) MIC = 1 μ J/ml Staphylococcus epidermidis, Streptococcus faecalis, Proteus vulgaris (Blanc et al., 2006)	In vitro (DPPH assay) $IC_{50} = 1011 \mu g/mL$ (Albano et al., 2012)		<i>In vitro</i> (5-Lypoxigenase assay) IC ₅₀ = 291μg/mL (Albano et al., 2012)
Laurus nobilis L./ Lauraceae	leaves	essential oil	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution method) MIC = 100 μg/ml <i>Candida albicans</i> (Ozcan et al., 2010)	In vitro (DPPH assay) $IC_{50} = 94,655 \mu g/ml$ (Ozcan et al., 2010)		<i>In vivo</i> : (formalin induced paw edema) Dose = 0.1 ml/kg Inhibition (3 hours) 35% (Sayyah et al., 2003)
Melissa officinalis L./M. citriodorata hort., M. cordifolia Pers., M. hirsuta (Pers.) Hornem./Lamiaceae	aerial parts	aqueous extract	<i>In vitro</i> (agar diffusion method) MIC and MFC = 200 μg/ml <i>Dekkera anomala</i> , <i>Torulaspora</i> <i>delbrueckii</i> (Araujo et al., 2003)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) IC ₅₀ = 8 μg/ml (Mimica-Dukic et al., 2004)		<i>In vivo</i> (histamine-induced paw oedema) Dose = 50 mg/kg Inhibition (after 5 hours): 48% (Birdane et al., 2007)
Nigella sativa L./N. in- dica Roxb. ex Flem., N. truncata Viv./Ranunculaceae	seeds	essential oil	$ \begin{array}{l} \label{eq:minor} In \ vitro \ (\text{DPPH ass} \\ MIC = 4 \ \mu g/ml \\ Bacillus \ cereus, Staphylococcus \\ aureus, S. epidermidis \\ (Kokoska et al., 2008) \\ \end{array} $	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) IC ₅₀ = 460 µg/ml (Burits and Bucar, 2000)		In vitro (NO assay) $C = 4 \mu g/ml$ Inhibition of NO: 95% (Bourgou et al., 2010) In vivo (croton oil induced ear oedema in mice) Dose = 10 µl/kg Reduction by: 39% (Hajhashemi et al., 2004)

Table 4: Plant species possessing three out of four required biological effects (Continued)

Criantific				Biolog	Biological effect	
name/Common syno- nyms/Family	Part tested	Extract/ Fraction	Antimicrobial Method/Concentration/ Microorganism/Reference	Antioxidative Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Immunomodulatory Method/Concentration/ Effect/Reference	Anti-inflammatory Method/Concentration/ Ef- fect/Reference
Prunella vulgaris L./Brunella vulgaris, Benth./Lamiaceae	aerial parts, herb	aqueous extract		In vitro (DPPH assay) C = $7 \mu g/ml$ Inhibition: 46% (Kyung-A et al., 2011)	<i>In vitro</i> (mitogenic activi- ty, flow cytometric analy- sis) C = 400 μg/mL Lymphocyte proliferati- on: Increase by 5% (Harput et al., 2006)	<i>In vitro</i> (NO production, Griess method) C = 400 µg/ml NO inhibition: 82% (Harput et al., 2006)
Thymbra capitata (L.) Cav/Satureja capitata L./Lamiaceae	flowe- ring aerial parts	essential oil	<i>In vitro</i> (broth dilution me- thod) MIC = 0.05 μl/ml <i>Listeria monocytogenes</i> (Faleiro et al., 2005)	<i>In vitro</i> (DPPH assay) IC ₅₀ = 61 μg/ml (Albano et al., 2012)		In vitro (5-Lypoxygenase assay) $IC_{50} = 93 \mu g/m l$ (Albano et al., 2012)
Vitis vinifera L.Vitis laciniosa L.Vitaceae	leaves	aqueous extract	<i>In vitro</i> (agar diffusion me- thod) MIC = 1,250 µg/mL <i>Candida albicans</i> (Yigit et al., 2009)	In vitro (DPPH assay) $IC_{50} = 300 \mu g/mL$ (Kosar et al., 2007)		<i>In vivo</i> (carrageenan-induced paw oedema in mice) Dose = 100 mg/kg Inhibition (in 360min): 27% (Kosar et al., 2007)
The data was rounded	l up to wł	ole numbe	The data was rounded up to whole numbers and standard deviation was not considered	n was not considered.		

Table 4: Plant species possessing three out of four required biological effects (Continued)

32

A moderate antiplasmodial activity against *Plasmodium falciparum* (IC₅₀ = 25 μ g/mL) was recorded for *B. aegyptiacus* (Karou et al. 2011), which supports the prospective anti-infective potential of this species.

Considering the antioxidative effect, the extracts of *B. aegyptiacus, O. sanctum, P. emblica* and *Z. officinale* previously exhibited marked *in vitro* antioxidative properties in DPPH assays, with lowest IC₅₀ ranging from 4 to 88 μ g/ml (Dutta and Maharia, 2012; Karou et al. 2011; Nampoothiri et al. 2011; Saputri and Jantan 2011). *P. emblica* possesses the lowest IC₅₀ value of 4 μ g/ml (Nampoothiri et al. 2011), which is a value comparable with the effectiveness of a standard antioxidant ascorbic acid.

Although *B. aegyptiacus* and *E. purpurea* exhibited significant *in vitro* effect in initial screening tests, further investigation did not confirm their immunomodulatory properties (Koko et al. 2008; Benson et al., 2010). Since *in vivo* experiments are more relevant models for evaluation of biological effects, *O. sanctum, P. emblica* and *Z. officinale* exhibiting potent immunostimulatory action in tests with animal models (Mukherjee et al. 2005; Nya and Austin 2009; Suja et al. 2009) can be considered as more prospective than *B. aegyptiacus* and *E. purpurea*. However, it is difficult to compare these results between each other, because different animal species (cows, mice and trout), different way of administration (oral and intramammary) and different experiment designs (e.g. observation times) were used. Nevertheless, based on the results of previously performed tests, all of these three species can be consider potent immunomodulatory agents.

As far as the anti-inflammatory activity is concerned, *E. purpurea* showed interesting *in vitro* properties, when even 2 μ g/ml significantly inhibited the cyclooxygenase-2 activity (Benson et al. 2010). *B. aegyptiacus, O. sanctum, P. emblica* and *Z. officinale* possessed significant *in vivo* anti-inflammatory activities (Ganju et al. 2003; Ramadan et al. 2011; Shetty et al. 2008; Speroni et al. 2005). The most effective plants seem to be *B. aegyptiacus* and *P. emblica*, with the lowest doses ranging from 25 mg to 200 mg/kg when significant paw edema inhibition was observed (Speroni et al. 2005; Ganju et al., 2005). However, it is difficult to compare these results between each other because of different experiment designs (e.g. observation times, excision wound model, paw edema model), therefore, all of these four species can be consider potent anti-inflammatory agents.

Interestingly, *Z. officinale* showed growth promoting effects in fish in an experiment carried out by Nya and Austin (2009). Feeding with ginger led to significantly better feed conversion in all tested doses (50, 100, 500 and 1,000 mg of ginger per 100g of feed) compared with the control group. Best feed conversion ratio of 0.1 was observed when fish were fed the highest dose of ginger (control group had feed conversion ratio of 0.5). Weight gain was significantly increased at the doses of 100, 500 and 1,000 mg of ginger per 100g of feed compared with the control group. The highest percentage of weight gain was observed at the highest dose of ginger (31%, control group 18%). Moreover, when fish were challenged with the *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection, the use of ginger for 14 days led to a significant reduction in mortality. In the control group there was the mortality of 64% compared to 16%, 4% and 0% mortality rates in the groups which received 1000, 50 and 5 00 mg of ginger per 100 g of feed respectively. Interestingly, the surviving fish from all the treated groups did not show any signs of disease at the end of experiment.

The most potent plants from Table 3 are *O. sanctum* and *Z. officinale*, possessing marked effects in most biological characteristics previously tested. However, to evaluate immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory activity and to decide which plant is more effective, it is recommended to test *O. sanctum* and *Z. officinale* in the same type of test and under the same conditions. As mentioned above, Nya and Austin (2009) previously proved beneficial effects of *Z. officinale* for growth promotion in fish. Furthermore, ginger rhizome powder was found not to be toxic in hens fed up to 3% of ginger in feed (Malekizadeh et al., 2012). Regarding *O. sanctum*, the ethanol extract was observed to be safe up to 4 g/kg of body weight in rats (Shetty et al., 2008). Therefore, further studies of *Z. officinale* and *O. sanctum* on livestock animals are recommended to test their growth promoting effects.

From Table 4 showing plants possessing three of the required properties, *B. dracunculifolia*, *L. nobilis*, *M. officinalis* and *N. sativa* previously exhibited significant *in vitro* growth-inhibitory effect against various species of pathogenic microorganisms (*Bacillus cereus, Candida albicans, Cryptococcus neoformans, Dekkera anomala, Staphylococcus aureus, S. epidermidis,* and *Torulaspora delbrueckii*) with lowest MICs ranging from 4 to 200 µg/ml (Araujo et al. 2003; Filho et al. 2008; Kokoska et al. 2008; Ozcan et al. 2010). This corresponds to the parameters proposed by Rios and Recio (2005)

for antimicrobially effective plant-derived products (MIC < 1 mg/ml for extracts). Furthermore, two other plant species *D. viscosa* and *T. capitata* possessed interesting antimicrobial effect with MICs ranging from 0.05 to 1 μ l/ml against various pathogens (*Listeria monocytogenes, Proteus vulgaris, Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Streptococcus faecalis*) (Blanc et al. 2006, Faleiro et al. 2005).

Considering antioxidative activity, the extracts of *A. nilotica*, *D. linearis M. officinalis*, *P. vulgaris* and *T. capitata* exhibited significant *in vitro* antioxidative properties in DPPH assays, with lowest IC₅₀ ranging approximately from 4 to 61 μ g/ml (Albano et al. 2012; Kyung-A et al. 2011; Mimica-Dukic et al. 2004; Sultana et al. 2007; Zakaria et al. 2011). *A. nilotica*, *M. officinalis* and *P. vulgaris* had IC₅₀ lower than 10 μ g/ml (Kyung-A et al. 2011; Mimica-Dukic et al. 2007), which are values comparable with the effectiveness of a standard antioxidant ascorbic acid.

From Table 4, only three plants, namely *A. nilotica, B. dracunculifolia* and *P. vulgaris* were previously tested for their immunomodulatory activity and that in *in vitro* experiments (Harput et al. 2006; Koko et al. 2008; Missima et al. 2007). The most potent effect was recorded for *A. nilotica*, since the smallest concentration was needed to cause a significant immunomodulatory effect.

Considering anti-inflammatory activity, five plant species were tested *in vitro*. In the 5-lypoxigenase assay the IC₅₀ of extracts were 93 and 291 µg/ml for *T. capitata* and *D. viscosa* respectively (Albano et al. 2012; Azah et al. 2000). Another *in vitro* test examined the inhibition of nitric oxid production when IC₅₀ ranged approximately from 4 to 243 µg/ml for *C. spinosa, N. sativa* and *P. vulgaris* (Bourgou et al. 2010; Harput et al. 2006; Panico et al. 2005), where *N. sativa* exhibited the best activity. This anti-inflammatory activity of *N. sativa* was also observed *in vivo* when the extract of *N. sativa* at the dose of 10 µl/kg significantly inhibited induced ear edema in mice by 39% (Hajhashemi et al. 2004). In the rest of the plant species the anti-inflammatory activity was proved by *in vivo* experiments, observing paw edema inhibition. The best activity, where the lowest doses significantly inhibited paw edemas, were observed for *D. linearis, M. officinalis* and *V. vinifera*, with doses ranging from 50 mg/kg to 100 mg/ kg (Birdane et al. 2007, Kosar et al. 2007).

The most potent plants from Table 4 are *M. officinalis* and *T. capitata*, since they exhibited the lowest concentrations to cause a significant biological effect in all three

activities for which they were previously tested. However, the data is lacking on their immunomodulatory properties, therefore, further investigation is necessary. *M. officinalis* aqueous extract showed low toxicity *in vitro* on African green monkey kidney cells, with maximum nontoxic concentration of 150 μ g/ml (Astani et al., 2012). Toxicological data for *T. capitata* is lacking, therefore, further investigation on toxicity is necessary.

5. Conclusion

Investigation of available scientific literature has led to the conclusion that plants contain biologically active products, which exhibit biological effects (antimicrobial, antioxidative, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory) and are capable to promote growth in livestock animals.

I have identified 16 plant species previously exhibiting either all four required effects (antimicrobial, antioxidative, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory) or at least three of them. There were five plant species previously tested on their antimicrobial, antioxidative, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory activity and from these I have identified two plant species, *O. sanctum* and *Z. officinale* (leaves and rhizomes respectively), with the most promising biological effects. Further research on livestock animals is recommended to prove the potential growth promoting effect of these plant species.

Furthermore, from the total number of 16 plant species there were 11 plant species previously tested on three out of four of the above mentioned biological effects and from these I have identified two plant species, *M. officinalis* and *T. capitata* (aerial parts for both plant species), with the most promising biological effects. These plant species, however, have to be further investigated for their immunomodulatory effect and *T. capitata* should be tested on its toxicity.

6. References

Aarestrup, F.M.; Seyfarth, A.M.; Emborg, H.D.; Pedersen, K.; Hendriksen, R.S.; Bager, F. (2001). Effect of abolishment of the use of antimicrobial agents for growth promotion on occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in fecal enterococci from food animals in Denmark. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 45(7): 2054–2059.

Adamez, J.D.; Samino, E.G.; Sanchez, E.V.; Gonzalez-Gomez, D. (2012). In vitro estimation of the antibacterial activity and antioxidant capacity of aqueous extracts from grape-seeds (Vitis vinifera L.). *Food Control*, 24(1-2): 136-141.

Albano, S.M.; Lima, A.S.; Miguel, M.G.; Pedro, L.G.; Barroso, J.G.; Figueiredo, A.C. (2012). Antioxidant, Anti-5-lipoxygenase and Antiacetylcholinesterase Activities of Essential Oils and Decoction Waters of Some Aromatic Plants. *Records of Natural Products*, 6(1): 35-48.

Al-Dobaib, S.N.; Mousa, H.M. (2009). Benefits and risks of growth promoters in animal production. *Journal Of Food Agriculture & Environment*, 7(2): 202-208.

Alekshun, M.N.; Levy, S.B. (2007). Molecular mechanisms of antibacterial multidrug resistance. *Cell*, 128(6): 1037-1050.

Anonymous (1999) *Profytase - Detailed info for Profytase, Phytase enzyme, Profytase, on Alibaba.com:* [online]. Last revision 4th January 2012 [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: < http://in1005667175.trustpass.alibaba.com/product/123984688-0/Profytase.html>

Anonymous (2006) *Vitalan - The Product:* [online]. Last revision 16th February 2012 [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: http://www.vitalan.co.nz/the-product.html

Anonymous (2008a) *The Oregano People - Feed Additives, Feed Supplements, Animal Care, Barnsprays DOSTOFARM GmbH - Company*[®]: [online].[cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: http://www.dsm.com/le/en_US/crina/html/what_is_crina.htm

Anonymous (2009a) *DSM* - *Crina* - *What is CRINA*[®]: [online].[cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: < http://www.dsm.com/le/en_US/crina/html/what_is_crina.htm>

Anonymous (2009b) *Probiotic Feed Additives - Cerbios-Pharma SA:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: http://www.cerbios.ch/I/probiotic-feed-additives.html

Anonymous (2009c) *Celmanax[®] Product Overview – All-in-one Yeast Culture, Yeast Extract, and Hydrolyzed Yeast:* [online]. Last revision 2nd November 2011 [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: http://www.vi-cor.com/products/celmanax/index.html Anonymous (2010a) *Biomin.net - Biomin[®] P.E.P. - Palatant to support digestion and feed utilization:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: http://www.biomin.net/en/animal-nutrition-products/phytogenics/biominr-pep/

Anonymous (2010b) *Extra-Health (sow lactogenic powder) - B2B Trade Leads - China Products, China Commodities:* [online].[cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: http://www.mosup.com/product-3369324/extra-health-sow-lactogenic-powder/

Anonymous (2010c) *Orego-Stim by Meriden Animal Health:* [online].[cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: http://www.orego-stim.com/>

Anonymous (2010d) *feed additive | animal feed | natural feed additive | Saccharicterpenin --Hangzhou Tangtian Technology Co.,Ltd.:* [online].[cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: http://www.tangtian-tech.com/product.asp?id=60

Anonymous (2010e) *Probilife Probiotics - Microbial Feed Additives / Life Products, Inc.:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: <http://www.lifeproductsinc.com/probiotics/>

Anonymous (2011a) *Delacon Phytogenic Feed Additives - AROMEX FRESTA BIOSTRONG:* [online]. Last revision 5th August 2011 [cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: <http://www.delacon.com/>

Anonymous (2011b) *Fytogenní krmná aditiva* | *Delacon.eu:* [online]. Last revision 6th May 2012 [cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: http://www.delacon.eu/cz/fytogenni_krmna_aditiva.php

Anonymous (2011c) *Products / Selko - Feed Additives:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: http://www.selko.com/gb/products

Anonymous (2012a) *Alpharma cattle, swine, and poultry feed additives & water solubles:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: http://www.alpharmaah.com/Science-Based_Solutions.cfm>

Anonymous (2012b) *Feed - BASF - The Chemical Company - Corporate Website:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-7]. Available at URL: http://www.basf.com/group/corporate/en/industry/FEED

Araujo, C.; Sousa, M.J.; Ferreira, M.F.; Leao, C. (2003). Activity of essential oils from Mediterranean Lamiaceae species against food spoilage yeasts. *Journal of Food Protection*, 66(4): 625-632.

Arikan, O.A.; Mulbry, W.; Rice, C. (2009). Management of antibiotic residues from agricultural sources: Use of composting to reduce chlortetracycline residues in beef manure from treated animals. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 164(2-3): 483-489.

Arikan, O.A.; Sikora, L.J.; Mulbry, W.; Khan, S.U.; Foster, G.D. (2007). Composting rapidly reduces levels of extractable oxytetracycline in manure from therapeutically treated beef calves. *Bioresource Technology*, 98(1): 169-176.

Arnault, I.; Christides, J.P.; Mandon, N.; Haffner, T.; Kahane, R.; Auger, J. (2003). Highperformance ion-pair chromatography method for simultaneous analysis of alliin, deoxyalliin, allicin and dipeptide precursors in garlic products using multiple mass spectrometry and UV detection. *Journal of Chromatographya*, 991(1): 69-75.

Astani, A.; Reichling, J.; Schnitzler, P. (2012). Melissa officinalis Extract Inhibits Attachment of Herpes Simplex Virus in vitro. *Chemotherapy*, 58(1): 70-77.

Avancini, C.; Wiest, J.M.; Dall'Agnol, R.; Haas, J.S.; von Poser, G.L. (2008). Antimicrobial Activity of Plants Used in the Prevention and Control of Bovine Mastitis in Southern Brazil. *Latin American Journal of Pharmacy*, 27(6): 894-899.

Balakumar, S.; Rajan, S.; Thirunalasundari, T.; Jeeva, S. (2011). Antifungal activity of Ocimum sanctum Linn. (Lamiaceae) on clinically isolated dermatophytic fungi. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 4(8): 654-657.

Barr, I.G.; Mitchell, G.F. (1996). ISCOMs (immunostimulating complexes): The first decade. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 74(1): 8-25.

Barr, I.G.; Sjolander, A.; Cox, J.C. (1998). ISCOMs and other saponin based adjuvants. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 32(3): 247-271.

Barton, M.D.; Hart, W.S. (2001). Public health risks: Antibiotic resistance - Review. *Asian- Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 14(3): 414-422.

Barug, D.; De Jong, J.; Kies, A.K.; Verstegen, M.W.A. *Antimicrobial growth promoters: Where do we go from here?* 1.ed. Netherlands: Wageningen Academic Publishers, 2006. 420 p. ISBN 978-90-76998-87-9.

Belle, J.C.; da Silva, C.A.; Bridi, A.M.; Pacheco, G.D. (2009). Evaluation of prebiotics as growth promoters to swine on growing and finishing phases. *Semina-Ciencias Agrarias*, 30(2):471-479.

Benson, J.M.; Pokorny, A.J.; Rhule, A.; Wenner, C.A.; Kandhi, V.; Cech, N.B.; Shepherd,

D.M. (2010). Echinacea purpurea extracts modulate murine dendritic cell fate and function. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 48(5): 1170-1177.

Birdane, Y.O.; Buyukokuroglu, M.E.; Birdane, F.M.; Cemek, M.; Yavuz, H. (2007). Antiinflammatory and antinociceptive effects of Melissa officinalis L. in rodents. *Revue de Medecine Veterinaire*, 158(2): 75-81.

Blanc, M.C.; Bradesi, P.; Goncalves, M.J.; Salgueiro, L.; Casanova, J. (2006). Essential oil of Dittrichia viscosa ssp viscosa: analysis by C-13-NMR and antimicrobial activity. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 21(2): 324-332.

Block, S.S. Disinfection, *sterilization, and preservation*. 5.ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 2001. 1504 p. ISBN 0-683-30740-1.

Boerlin, P.; Wissing, A.; Aarestrup, F.M.; Frey, J.; Nicolet, J. (2001). Antimicrobial growth promoter ban and resistance to macrolides and vancomycin in enterococci from pigs. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 39*, 4193–4195.

Bolder, N.M.; Wagenaar, J.A.; Putirulan, F.F.; Veldman, K.T.; Sommer, M. (1999). The effect of flavophospholipol (Flavomycin (R)) and salinomycin sodium (Sacox (R)) on the excretion of Clostridium perfringens, Salmonella enteritidis, sand Campylobacter jejuni in broilers after experimental infection. *Poultry Science*, 78(12): 1681-1689.

Bourgou, S.; Pichette, A.; Marzouk, B.; Legault, J. (2010). Bioactivities of black cumin essential oil and its main terpenes from Tunisia. *South African Journal of Botany*, 76(2): 210-216.

Burits, M.; Bucar, F. (2000). Antioxidant activity of Nigella sativa essential oil. *Phytotherapy Research*, 14(5): 323-328.

Butaye, P.; Devriese, L.A.; Haesebrouck, F. (2003). Antimicrobial growth promoters used in animal feed: Effects of less well known antibiotics on gram-positive bacteria. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 16(2): 175-188.

Campagnolo, E.R.; Johnson, K.R.; Karpati, A.; Rubin, C.S.; Kolpin, D.W.; Meyer, M.T.; Esteban, J.E.; Currier, R.W.; Smith, K.; Thu, K.M.; McGeehin, M. (2002). Antimicrobial residues in animal waste and water resources proximal to large-scale swine and poultry feeding operations. *Science of the Total Environment*, 299(1-3): 89-95.

Casewell, M.; Friis, C.; Marco, E.; McMullin, P.; Phillips, I. (2003). The European ban on growth-promoting antibiotics and emerging consequences for human and animal health. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 52(2): 159-161.

Castanon, J. I. R. (2007). History of the use of antibiotic as growth promoters in European poultry feeds. *Poultry Science*, 86(11): 2466-2471.

Cervantes, H.M.; Shim, M.Y.; Hooper, S.E.; Bafundo, K.W.; Pesti, G.M. (2011). The influence of virginiamycin on the live and processing performance of Nicholas turkey hens. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 20(3): 347-352.

Choct, M.; Hughes, R.J.; Wang, J.; Bedford, M.R.; Morgan, A.J.; Annison, G. (1996). Increased small intestinal fermentation is partly responsible for the anti-nutritive activity of non-starch polysaccharides in chickens. *British Poultry Science*, 37(2): 609-621.

Coates, M.E.; Harrison, G.F.; Lev, M.; Fuller, R.; Suffolk, S.F. (1963). A comparison of the growth of chicks in the Gustafsson germfree apparatus and in a conventional environment, with and without dietary supplements of penicillin. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 17(1): 141-150.

Collier, C.T.; Smiricky-Tjardes, M.R.; Albin, D.M.; Wubben, J.E.; Gabert, V.M.; Deplancke, B.; Bane, D.; Anderson, D.B.; Gaskins, H.R. (2003). Molecular ecological analysis of porcine ileal microbiota responses to antimicrobial growth promoters. *Journal of Animal Science*, 81(12): 3035-3045.

Costa, E.; Uwiera, R.R.E.; Kastelic, J.P.; Selinger, L.B.; Inglis, G.D. (2011) Nontherapeutic administration of a model antimicrobial growth promoter modulates intestinal immune responses. *Gut Pathogens*, 3: 14.

Devirgiliis, C.; Barile, S.; Perozzi, G. (2011). Antibiotic resistance determinants in the interplay between food and gut microbiota. Genes and Nutrition, 6(3): 275-284.

Dibner, J.J.; Richards J.D. (2005). Antibiotic growth promoters in agriculture: History and mode of action. *Poltry Science*, 84(4): 634-643.

dos Santos, D.A.; Fukui, M.D.; Nanayakkara, N.P.D.; Khan, S.I.; Sousa, J.P.B.; Bastos, J.K.; Andrade, S.F.; da Silva, A.; Quintao, N.L.M. (2010). Anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive effects of Baccharis dracunculifolia DC (Asteraceae) in different experimental models. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 127(2): 543-550.

Drlica K.; Perlin D.S. Antibiotic resistance: Understanding and responding to an emerging crisis. 2011 New Jersey: FT Press, 1. ed. 288 p. ISBN 0-13-138773-1.

Dutta, R.K.; Maharia, R.S. (2012). Antioxidant responses of some common medicinal plants grown in copper mining areas. *Food Chemistry*, 131(1): 259-265.

Edwards, J.E.; McEwan, N.R.; McKain, N.; Walker, N.; Wallace, R.J. (2005). Influence of flavomycin on ruminal fermentation and microbial populations in sheep. *Microbiology-SGM*, 151(part 3): 717-725.

Eldeen, I.M.S.; Van Staden, J. (2007). Antimycobacterial activity of some trees used in South African traditional medicine. *South African Journal of Botany*, 73(2): 248-251.

Faleiro, L.; Miguel, G.; Gomes, S.; Costa, L.; Venancio, F.; Teixeira, A.; Figueiredo, A.C.; Barroso, J.G.; Pedro, L.G. (2005). Antibacterial and antioxidant activities of essential oils isolated from Thymbra capitata L. (Cav.) and Origanum vulgare L. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 53(21): 8162-8168.

Fathilah, A.R. (2011). Piper betle L. and Psidium guajava L. in oral health maintenance. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, 5(2): 156-163.

Feighner, S.D.; Dashkevicz, M.P. (1987) Subtherapeutic levels of antibiotics in poultry feeds and their effects on weight gain, feed efficiency, and bacterial cholyltaurine hydrolase activity. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 53(2): 331-336.

Filho, A.A.D.S.; de Sousa, J.P.B.; Soares, S.; Furtado, N.A.J.C.; Silva, M.L.A.E.; Cunha, W.R.; Gregorio, L.E.; Nanayakkara, N.R.D.; Bastos, J.K. (2008). Antimicrobial activity of the extract and isolated compounds from Baccharis dracunculifolia D. C. (Asteraceae). *Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung Section C-A Journal of Biosciences*, 63(1-2): 40-46.

Finch, R.; Davey, P.; Wilcox, M.; Irving, W. *Antimicrobial chemotherapy* 6.ed. New York: Oxford University Press, 2012. 408p. ISBN 978-0-19-969765-6.

Franz C.; Baser K. H. C.; Windisch W. (2010). Essential oils and aromatic plants in animal feeding - a European perspective. A review. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal*, 25(5): 327-340.

Froyshov, O.; Pedersen, S.; Hove, K. (1986). Absorbtion, metabolism and excretion of zinc C-14 bacitracin fed to young-pigs. Journal *of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition-Zeitschrift fur Tierphysiologie Tierernahrung und Futtermittelkunde*, 55(2): 100-110.

Fuller, R. Probiotics in man and animals. (1989). Journal *of Applied Bacteriology*, 66(5): 365-378.

Ganju, L.; Karan, D.; Chanda, S.; Srivastava, K.K.; Sawhney, R.C.; Selvamurthy, W. (2003). Immunomodulatory effects of agents of plant origin. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 57(7): 296-300.

Germano, M.P.; De Pasquale, R.; D'Angelo, V.; Catania, S.; Silvari, V.; Costa, C. (2002). Evaluation of extracts and isolated fraction from Capparis spinosa L. buds as an antioxidant source. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50(5): 1168-1171.

Gibson, G.R.; Roberfroid, M.B. (1995). Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota - Introducing the concept of prebiotics. *Journal of nutrition*, 125 (6): 1401-1412.

Giguere, S.;Prescott, J.F.; Baggot, J.D.; Walker, R.D.; Dowling, P.M. *Antimicrobial therapy in veterinary medicine*. 4.ed. Iowa: Blackwell Publishing 2006, 626 p. ISBN 978-0-8138-0656-3.

Grave, K.; Jensen, V.J.; Odensvik, K.; Wierup, M.; Bangen, M. (2006). Usage of veterinary therapeutic antimicrobials in Denmark, Norway and Sweden following termination of antimicrobial growth promoter use. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine 75*, 123–132.

Haack, B.J.; Andrews, R.E. (2000) .Isolation of Tn916-like conjugal elements from swine lot effluent. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 46(6): 542-549.

Hajhashemi, V.; Ghannadi, A.; Jafarabadi, H. (2004). Black cumin seed essential oil, as a potent analgesic and antiinflammatory drug. *Phytotherapy Research*, 18(3): 195-199.

Haque, M.N.; Islam, K.M.S.; Akbar, M.A.; Chowdhury, R.; Khatun, M.; Karim, M.R.; Kemppainen, B.W. (2010). Effect of dietary citric acid, flavomycin and their combination on the performance, tibia ash and immune status of broiler. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 90(1): 57-63.

Harput, U.S.; Saracoglu, I.; Ogihara, Y. (2006). Effects of two Prunella species on lymphocyte proliferation and nitric oxide production. *Phytotherapy Research*, 20(2): 157-159.

Harris, J.C.; Cottrell, S.L.; Plummer, S.; Lloyd, D. (2001). Antimicrobial properties of Allium sativum (garlic). *Applies Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 57(3): 282-286.

He, S.X.; Zhou, Z.G.; Liu, Y.C.; Cao, Y.N.; Meng, K.; Shi, P.J.; Yao, B.; Ringo, E. (2010) Effects of the antibiotic growth promoters flavomycin and florfenicol on the autochtonous intestinal microbiota of hybrid tilapia. *Archives of Microbiology*, 192(12): 985-994.

Hejzlar, M.; Hylmar, B.; Teplý, M. *Antibiotika a jejich použití v potravinářství a zemědělství*. 1. vyd. Praha: SNTL, 1980. 282 s.

Hong, J.C.; Steiner, T.; Aufy, A.; Lien, T.F. (2012). Effects of supplemental essential oil on

growth performance, lipid metabolites and immunity, intestinal characteristics, microbiota and carcass traits in broilers. *Livestock Science*, 144(3): 253-262.

Huber, G.; Nesemann, G. (1968). Moenomycin, an inhibitor of cell wall synthesis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 30(1):7–13.

Huyghebaert, G.; Ducatelle, R.; Van Immerseel, F. (2011). An update on alternatives to antimicrobial growth promoters for broilers. *Veterinary Journal*, 187(2): 182-188.

Ilsley, S.E.; Miller, H.M.; Greathead, H.M.R.; Kamel, C. (2003). Plant extracts as supplements for lactating sows: effects on piglet performance, sow food intake and diet digestibility. *Animal Science*, 77(part 2): 247-254.

Jatkauskas, J.; Vrotniakiene, V. (2009). Effects of a combined pre- and probiotics product on diarrhoea patterns and performance of early weaned calves. *Veterinarija ir Zootechnika*, 48(70): 17-23.

Johnson, K.G.; Tyrrell, J.; Rowe, J.B.; Pethick, D.W.(1998) Behavioural changes in stabled horses given nontherapeutic levels of virginiamycin. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 30(2): 139-143.

Jones, F.T.; Ricke, S.C. (2003). Observations on the History of the Development of Antimicrobials and Their Use in Poultry Feeds. *Poultry Science*, 82(4): 613-617.

Jukes, T.H.; Williams, W.L. (1953). Nutritional effects of antibiotics. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 5(4): 381-420.

Karou, S.D.; Tchacondo, T.; Ouattara, L.; Anani, K.; Savadogo, A.; Agbonon, A.; Ben Attaia, M.; de Souza, C.; Sakly, M.; Simpore, J. (2011). Antimicrobial, antiplasmodial, haemolytic and antioxidant activities of crude extracts from three selected Togolese medicinal plants. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine*, 4(10): 808-813.

Khan, S.J.; Roser, D.J.; Davies, C.M.; Peters, G.M.; Stuetz, R.M.; Tucker, R.; Ashbolt, N.J. (2008). Chemical contaminants in feedlot wastes: Concentrations, effects and attenuation. *Enviroment International*, 34(6):839-859.

Koko, W.S.; Mesaik, M.A.; Yousaf, S.; Galal, M.; Choudhary, M.I. (2008). In vitro immunomodulating properties of selected Sudanese medicinal plants. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 118(1): 26-34.

Kokoska, L.; Havlik, J.; Valterova, I.; Sovova, H.; Sajfrtova, M.; Jankovska, I. (2008). Comparison of Chemical Composition and Antibacterial Activity of Nigella sativa Seed Essential Oils Obtained by Different Extraction Methods. *Journal of Food Protection*, 71(12): 2475-2480.

Kosar, M.; Kupeli, E.; Malyer, H.; Uylaser, V.; Turkben, C.; Baser, K.H.C. (2007). Effect of brining on biological activity of leaves of Vitis vinifera L. (Cv. Sultani Cekirdeksiz) from Turkey. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(11): 4596-4603.

Kyung-A, H.; Yu-Jin, H.; Dong-Sik, P.; Jaehyun, K.; Ae-Son, O. (2011). In vitro investigation of antioxidant and anti-apoptotic activities of Korean wild edible vegetable extracts and their correlation with apoptotic gene expression in HepG2 cells. *Food Chemistry*, 125(2): 483-487.

Lans, C.; Turner, N. (2011). Organic parasite control for poultry and rabbits in British Columbia, Canada. Journal *of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, 7(21).

Mackie, R.I.; Koike, S.; Krapac, I.; Chee-Sanford, J.; Maxwell, S.; Aminov, R.I. (2006) Tetracycline residues and tetracycline resistance genes in groundwater impacted by swine production facilities. *Animal Biotechnology*, 17(2): 157-176.

Mahasneh, A.M. (2002). Screening of some indigenous qatari medicinal plants for antimicrobial activity. *Phytotherapy Research*, 16(8): 751-753.

Mahmood, S.; Mushtaq-Ul-Hassan, M.; Alam, M.; Ahmad, F. (2009). Comparative Efficacy of Nigella sativa and Allium sativum as Growth Promoters in Broilers. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 11(6): 775-778.

Malekizadeh, M.; Moeini, M.M.; Ghazi, S. (2012). The Effects of Different Levels of Ginger (Zingiber officinale Rosc) and Turmeric (Curcuma longa Linn) Rhizomes Powder on Some Blood Metabolites and Production Performance Characteristics of Laying Hens. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology*, 14(1): 127-134.

Mantere-Alhonen, S. (1995). Propionibacteria used as probiotics - A review. *Lait*, 75(4-5): 447-452.

Maregesi, S.M.; Pieters, L.; Ngassapa, O.D.; Apers, S.; Vingerhoets, R.; Cos, P.; Vanden Berghe, D.A.V.; Vlietinck, A.J. (2008). Screening of some Tanzanian medicinal plants from Bunda district for antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral activities. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 119(1): 58-66.

Mateus, A.; Brodbelt, D.; Stark, K. (2011). Evidence-based use of antimicrobials in veterinary practice. *In Practice*, 33(5): 194-202.

Mathlouthi, N.; Bouzaienne, T.; Oueslati, I.; Recoquillay, F.; Hamdi, M.; Urdaci, M.; Bergaoui, R. (2012). Use of rosemary, oregano, and a commercial blend of essential oils in broiler chickens: In vitro antimicrobial activities and effects on growth performance. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90(3): 813-823.

Mehmood, Z.; Ahmad, I.; Mohammad, F.; Ahmad, S. (1999). Indian medicinal plants: A potential source for anticandidal drugs. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 37(3): 237-242.

Migliore, L.; Brambilla, G.; Casoria, P.; Civitareale, C.; Cozzolino, S.; Gaudio, L. (1996). Effect of sulphadimethoxine contamination on barley (Hordeum distichum L, Poaceae, Liliopsida). *Agriculture Ecosystems & Enviroment*, 60(2-3): 121-128.

Millet, S.; Maertens, L. (2011). The European ban on antibiotic growth promoters in animal feed: From challenges to opportunities. *Veterinary Journal*, 187(2): 143-144.

Mimica-Dukic, N.; Bozin, B.; Sokovic, M.; Simin, N. (2004). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of Melissa officinalis L. (Lamiaceae) essential oil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(9): 2485-2489.

Missima, F.; da Silva, A.A.; Nunes, G.A.; Bueno, P.C.P.; de Sousa, J.P.B.; Bastos, J.K.; Sforcin, J.M. (2007). Effect of Baccharis dracunculifolia DC (Asteraeeae) extracts and its isolated compounds on macrophage activation. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 59(3): 463-468.

Mitema, E.S.; Kikuvi, G.M.; Wegner, H.C.; Stohr, K. (2001). An assessment of antimicrobial consumption in food producing animals in Kenya. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutcs*, 24(6): 385-390.

Moudrý, J.; Konvalina, P.; Moudrý, J.; Kalinová, J. *Ekologické zemědělství : vysokoškolská učebnice*. 1. vyd. České Budějovice: Jihočeská univerzita v Českých Budějovicích, Zemědělská fakulta, 2007. 219 s. ISBN 978-80-7394-046-1.

Mukherjee, R.; Dash, P.K.; Ram, G.C. (2005). Immunotherapeutic potential of Ocimum sanctum (L) in bovine subclinical mastitis. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 79(1): 37-43.

Murray P.R.; Baron E.J.; Pfaller M.A.; Tenover F.C.; Yolken R.H. *Manual of clinical microbiology*. 1999, 7th ed., 1773p. Washington: ASM Press ISBN 1-55581-126-4.

Nampoothiri, S.V.; Prathapan, A.; Cherian, O.L.; Raghu, K.G.; Venugopalan, V.V.; Sundaresan, A. (2011). In vitro antioxidant and inhibitory potential of Terminalia bellerica and Emblica officinalis fruits against LDL oxidation and key enzymes linked to type 2 diabetes. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 49(1): 125-131. Nanjundaiah, S.M.; Annaiah, H.N.M.; Dharmesh, S.M. (2011). Gastroprotective Effect of Ginger Rhizome (Zingiber officinale) Extract: Role of Gallic Acid and Cinnamic Acid in H+, K+-ATPase/H. pylori Inhibition and Anti-Oxidative Mechanism. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 1-13.

Nemcova, R.; Bomba, A.; Gancarcikova, S.; Herich, R.; Guba, P. (1999). Study of the effect of Lactobacillus paracasei and fructooligosaccharides on the faecal microflora in weanling piglets. *Berliner und Munchener Tierarztliche Wochenschrift*, 112(6-7): 225-228.

Nisha, A.R. (2008). Antibiotic residues-a global health hazard. *Veterinary World*, 1(12): 375-377.

Nya, E.J.; Austin, B. (2009). Use of dietary ginger, Zingiber officinale Roscoe, as an immunostimulant to control Aeromonas hydrophila infections in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 32(11): 971-977.

Nyamagonda, H.; Swamy, MN.; Veena, T.; Jayakumar, K.; Swamy, H.D.N. (2011). Effect of prebiotic and probiotics on growth performance in broiler chickens. *Indian Journal of Animal Research*, 45(4): 271-275.

O'Keeffe, M.; Kennedy, O. (1998). Residues - A food safety problem? *Journal of Food Safety*, 18 (4): 297-319.

Opletal, L.; Skřivanová, V. *Přírodní látky a jejich biologická aktivita: Využití látek pro ovlivnění fyziologických procesů hospodářských zvířat.* 1. vyd. Praha: Karolinum, 2010. 653 s. ISBN 978-80-246-1801-2.

Orhan, I.; Senol, F.S.; Gulpinar, A.R.; Kartal, M.; Sekeroglu, N.; Deveci, M.; Kan, Y; Sener, B. (2009). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitory and antioxidant properties of Cyclotrichium niveum, Thymus praecox subsp caucasicus var. caucasicus, Echinacea purpurea and E. pallida. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 47(6): 1304-1310.

Ozcan, B.; Esen, M.; Sangun, M.K.; Coleri, A.; Caliskan, M. (2010). Effective antibacterial and antioxidant properties of methanolic extract of Laurus nobilis seed oil. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 31(5): 637-641.

Panico, A.M.; Cardile, V.; Garufi, F.; Puglia, C.; Bonina, F.; Ronsisvalle, G. (2005). Protective effect of Capparis spinosa on chondrocytes. *Life Sciences*, 77(20): 2479-2488.

Parker, W. H. *Health and disease in farm animals: An introduction to farm animal medicine*. 3. ed. Oxford: Pergamon press Ltd., 1980. 307 p. ISBN 0-08-025899-9.

Partanen, K.; Siljander-Rasi, H.; Pentikainen, J.; Pelkonen, S.; Fossi, M. (2007). Effects of weaning age and formic acid-based feed additives on pigs from weaning to slaughter. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, 61(5): 336-356.

Partanen, K.H.; Mroz, Z. (1999). Organic acids for performance enhancement in pig diets. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 12(1): 117-145.

Petroski, R.J.; McCormick, S.P. *Secondary-metabolite biosynthesis and metabolism*. New York: Plenum Press, 1992. 394 p. ISBN 0-306-44309-0.

Pfaller, M. (2006) Flavophospholipol use in animals: Positive implications for antimicrobial resistance based on its microbiologic properties. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 56(2): 151-121.

Phillips, I. (1999) The use of bacitracin as a growth promoter in animals produces no risk to human health. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 44(6): 725-728.

Phillips, I. (2007). Withdrawal of growth-promoting antibiotics in Europe and its effects in relation to human health. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 30(2): 101-107.

Phillips, I.; Casewell, M.; Cox, T.; De Groot, B.; Friis, C.; Jones, R.; Nightingale, C.; Preston, R.; Waddell, J. (2004). Does the use of antibiotics in food animals pose a risk to human health? A critical review of published data. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 53(1): 28-52.

Pieroni, A.; Howard, P.; Volpato, G.; Santoro, R.F. (2004). Natural remedies and nutraceuticals used in ethnoveterinary practices in inland southern Italy. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 28(1): 55-80.

Proudfoot, F.G.; Hulan, H.W.; Jackson, E.D. The response of male broiler chicks to the consumption of low-levels of chlortetracycline as a growth promoter. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 68(4): 1285-1290.

Ramadan, G.; Al-Kahtani, M.A.; El-Sayed, W.M. (2011). Anti-inflammatory and Antioxidant Properties of Curcuma longa (Turmeric) Versus Zingiber officinale (Ginger) Rhizomes in Rat Adjuvant-Induced Arthritis. *Inflammation*, 34(4): 291-301.

Regulation EC/37/2010 - Commision Regulation (EU) No 37/2010 of 22 December 2009 on pharmacologically active substances and their classification regarding maximum residue limits in foodstuffs of animal origin. *Official Journal of the European Union*. (2010) last revision 10.6. 2010 [cit. 2012-04-27]. Available at URL: http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/eudralex/vol-5/reg_2010_37/reg_2010_37_en.pdf

Rios, J.L.; Recio, M.C. (2005). Medicinal plants and antimicrobial activity. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 100(1-2): 80-84.

Roura, E.; Homedes, J.; Klasing, K.C. (1992). Prevention of immunologic stress contributes to the growth-permitting ability of dietary antibiotics in chicks. *Journal of Nutrition*, 122(12): 2383-2390.

Sainsbury, D. *Animal health: Health, disease and welfare of farm livestock.* 1. ed. London: Collins profesional and technical books, 1986. 232 p. ISBN 0-00-383356-9.

Sano, M.; Sasaki, K.; Tomita, I.; Ikeya, M.; Torii, Y.; Koizumi, Y.; Kodomari, S. (1996). Effects of tea leaf (Camellia sinensis L) feeding on the freshness of broiler chickens. *Journal of the Food Hygienic Society of Japan*, 37(1): 38-42.

Saputri, F.C.; Jantan, I. (2011). Effects of selected medicinal plants on human low-density lipoprotein oxidation, 2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals and human platelet aggregation. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, 5(26): 6182-6191.

Sarmah, A.K.; Meyer, M.T.; Boxall, A.B.A.(2006). A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. *Chemosphere*, 65(5): 725-759.

Sayyah, M.; Saroukhani, G.; Peirovi, A.; Kamalinejad, M. (2003). Analgesic and antiinflammatory activity of the leaf essential oil of Laurus nobilis Linn. *Phytotherapy Research*, 17(7): 733-736.

Schindler J. Mikrobiologie: *Pro studenty zdravotnických oborů*. 1. vyd. Praha: Grada publishing, 2010. 248 s. ISBN 978-80-247-3170-4.

Schlusener, M.; von Arb, M.A.; Bester, K. (2006). Elimination of macrolides, tiamulin, and salinomycin during manure storage. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 51(1): 21-28.

Schwarz, S.; Kehrenberg, C.; Walsh, T. R. (2001). Use of antimicrobial agents in veterinary medicine and food animal production. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 17(6): 431-437.

Serratosa, J.; Blass, A.; Rigau, B.; Mongrell, B.; Rigau, T.; Tortades, M.; Tolosa, E.; Aguilar, C.; Ribo, O.; Balague, J. (2006). Residues from veterinary medicinal products, growth promoters and performance enhancers in food-producing animals: a European Union perspective. *Revue Scientifique et Technique-Office International des Epizooties*, 25(2): 637-653. Shalaby, A.M.; Khattab, Y.A.; Abdel, R.A.M. (2006). Effects of garlic (Allium sativum) and chloramphenicol on growth performance, physiological parameters and survival of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). *Journal of Venomous Animals and Toxins Including Tropical Disease*, 12(2): 172-201.

Shetty, S.; Udupa, S.; Udupa, L. (2008). Evaluation of antioxidant and wound healing effects of alcoholic and aqueous extract of Ocimum sanctum Linn in rats. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 5(1): 95-101.

Shivaramaiah, S.; Pumford, N.R.; Morgan, M.J.; Wolfenden, R.E.; Wolfenden, A.D.; Torres-Rodriguez, A.; Hargis, B.M.; Tellez, G. (2011). Evaluation of Bacillus species as potential candidates for direct-fed microbials in commercial poultry. *Poultry Science*, 90(7): 1574-1580.

Singer, R.S.; Finch, R.; Wegener, H.C.; Bywater, R.; Walters, J.; Lipsicht, M. (2003). Antibiotic resistance - the interplay between antibiotic use in animals and human beings. *Lancet Infectious Disease*, 3(1): 41-51.

Speroni, E.; Cervellati, R.; Innocenti, G.; Costa, S.; Guerra, M.C.; Acqua, S.D.; Govoni, P. (2005). Anti-inflammatory, anti-nociceptive and antioxidant activities of Balanites aegyptiaca (L.) Delile. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 98(1-2): 117-125.

Stanisavljevic, I.; Stojicevic, S.; Velickovic, D.; Veljkovic, V.; Lazic, M. (2009). Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activities of Echinacea (Echinacea purpurea L.) Extracts Obtained by Classical and Ultrasound Extraction. *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 17(3): 478-483.

Stein, A.C.; Sortino, M.; Avancini, C.; Zacchino, S.; von Poser, G. (2005). Ethnoveterinary medicine in the search for antimicrobial agents: Antifungal activity of some species of Pterocaulon (Asteraceae). *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 99(2): 211-214.

Steiner, T. (N/A) *Biomin.net - Articles - Optimizing Gut Health and Performance through a Phytogenic Feed Additive:* [online]. [cited 2012-05-6]. Available at URL: </www.biomin.net/en/knowledge-center/articles/articles-details/article/optimizing-gut-health-and-performance-through-a-phytogenic-feed-additive//>

Stokstad, E.L.R.; Jukes, T.H.; Pierce, J.; Page, A.C.; Franklin, A.L. (1949). The multiple nature of the animal protein factor. Journal *of Biological Chemistry*, 180(2): 647-654.

Suja, R.S.; Nair, A.M.C.; Sujith, S.; Preethy, J.; Deepa, A.K. (2009). Evaulation of Immunomodulatory Potential of Emblica Officinalis Fruit Pulp Extract in Mice. *Indian Journal of Animal Research*, 43(2): 103-106.

Sultana, B.; Anwar, F.; Przybylski, R. (2007). Antioxidant activity of phenolic components present in barks of Azadirachta indica, Terminalia arjuna, Acacia nilotica, and Eugenia jambolana Lam. Trees. *Food Chemistry*, 104(3): 1106-1114.

Tenover, F.C.; McGowan J.E. 1996. Reasons for the emergence of antibiotic resistance. American Journal of the Medical Sciences, 311(1): 9-16.

Thiele-Bruhn, S. (2003). Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils - a review. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift fur Pflanzenernahrung und Bodenkunde*, 166(2): 145-167.

Thomke, S.; Elwinger, K. (1998). Growth promotants in feeding pigs and poultry. III. Alternatives to antibiotic growth promotants. *Annales de Zootechnie*, 47(4): 245-271.

van der Wielen, P.W.J.J.; Biesterveld, S.; Notermans, S.; Hofstra, H.; Urlings, B.A.P.; van Knapen, F. (2000). Role of volatile fatty acids in development of the cecal microflora in broiler chickens during growth. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(6): 2536-2540.

Verstegen, M.W.A.; Williams, B.A. (2002). Alternatives to the use of antibiotics as growth promoters for monogastric animals. *Animal Biotechnology*, 13(1): 113-127.

Vondruskova, H.; Slamova, R.; Trckova, M.; Zraly, Z.; Pavlik, I. (2010). Alternatives to antibiotic growth promoters in prevention of diarrhoea in weaned piglets: a review. *Veterinarni Medicina*, 55(5): 199-224.

Wegener, H.C. (2003). Antibiotics in animal feed and their role in resistance development. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 6(5): 439-445.

Witte, W. (1998). Medical Consequences of Antibiotic Use in Agriculture. *Science*, 279 (5353): 996-997.

Woolcock, J.B. *Microbiology of animals and animal products*. 1. ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1991. 278p. ISBN 0-444-43010-5.

Wynn, S.G.; Fougère, B. *Veterinary Herbal Medicine*. 1.ed. Missouri: Mosbi, 2007. 736 p. ISBN 0-323-02998-1.

Yigit, D.; Yigit, N.; Mavi, A.; Yildirim, A.; Guleryuz, M. (2009). Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activities of Methanol and Water Extracts of Fruits, Leaves and Seeds of Vitis vinifera L. cv. Karaerik. *Asian Journal of Chemistry*, 21(1): 183-194. Zakaria, Z.A.; Desa, A.M.; Ramasamy, K.; Ahmat, N.; Mohamad, A.S.; Israf, D.A.; Sulaiman, M.R. (2010). Lack of antimicrobial activities of Dicranopteris linearis extracts and fractions. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, 4(2): 71-75.

Zakaria, Z.A.; Ghani, Z.D.F.A.; Nor, R.N.S.R.M.; Gopalan, H.K.; Sulaiman, M.R.; Jais, A.M.M.; Somchit, M.N.; Kader, A.A.; Ripin, J. (2008). Antinociceptive, antiinflammatory, and antipyretic properties of an aqueous extract of Dicranopteris linearis leaves in experimental animal models. *Journal of Natural Medicines*, 62(2): 179-187.

Zakaria, Z.A.; Mohamed, A.M.; Jamil, N.S.M.; Rofiee, M.S.; Somchit, M.N.; Zuraini, A.; Arifah, A.K.; Sulaiman, M.R. (2011). In vitro cytotoxic and antioxidant properties of the aqueous, chloroform and methanol extracts of Dicranopteris linearis leaves. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 10(2): 273-282.

Zhu, Y.Z.; Huang, S.H.; Tan, B.K.H.; Sun, J.; Whiteman, M.; Zhu, Y.C. (2004). Antioxidants in Chinese herbal medicines: a biochemical perspective. *Natural Product Reports*, 21(4): 478-489.

Zimmerman, D.R. (1986) Role of subtherapeutic levels of antimicrobials in pig production. *Journal of Animal Science*, 62(Suppl. 3): 6-17.

Zulkifli, I.; Abdullah, N.; Azrin, N.M.; Ho, Y.W. (2000). Growth performance and immune response of two commercial broiler strains fed diets containing Lactobacillus cultures and oxytetracycline under heat stress conditions. *British Poultry Science*, 41(5): 593-597.

7. Abbreviations

MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
MFC	Minimum fungicidal concentration
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
COX	Cyclooxygenase
EC ₅₀	Half maximal effective concentration
NO	Nitric oxide